

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

# DRIVERS, DYNAMICS AND EPIDEMIOLOGY OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE IN ANIMAL PRODUCTION



# DRIVERS, DYNAMICS AND EPIDEMIOLOGY OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE IN ANIMAL PRODUCTION

Authors: B.A. Wall, A. Mateus, L. Marshall and D.U. Pfeiffer Co-authors: J. Lubroth, H.J. Ormel, P. Otto and A. Patriarchi

FOOD AND AGRICULTURE ORGANIZATION OF THE UNITED NATIONS Rome, 2016

#### **Recommended Citation**

FAO. 2016. Drivers, dynamics and epidemiology of antimicrobial resistance in animal production

#### **Authors**

B.A. Wall, A. Mateus, L. Marshall and D.U. Pfeiffer Veterinary Epidemiology, Economics and Public Health Group, Department of Production and Population Health, The Royal Veterinary College, North Mymms, London, UK

#### **Co-authors**

J. Lubroth, H.J. Ormel, P. Otto and A. Patriarchi Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers, whether or not these have been patented, does not imply that these have been endorsed or recommended by FAO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned.

The views expressed in this information product are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of FAO.

ISBN 978-92-5-109441-9

#### © FAO, 2016

FAO encourages the use, reproduction and dissemination of material in this information product. Except where otherwise indicated, material may be copied, downloaded and printed for private study, research and teaching purposes, or for use in non-commercial products or services, provided that appropriate acknowledgement of FAO as the source and copyright holder is given and that FAO's endorsement of users' views, products or services is not implied in any way.

All requests for translation and adaptation rights, and for resale and other commercial use rights should be made via www.fao.org/contact-us/licence-request or addressed to copyright@fao.org.

FAO information products are available on the FAO website (www.fao.org/publications) and can be purchased through publications-sales@fao.org.

# CONTENTS

Acknowledgements	iv
Executive summary	V
Introduction	1
The emergence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria	3
Evolution of resistance genes	3
Types of resistance: intrinsic versus acquired	5
Mechanisms of bacterial resistance	7
The relevance of animal production in the emergence of antimicrobial resistance	9
Drivers of AMR emergence in animal production	10
Categories of AMU in animal production in relation to the emergence of AMR	11
AMR emergence and AMU within different animal production systems	23
Mechanisms of spread of antimicrobial resistance between animals and humans	28
Local and global mechanisms of spread	28
Relevance and influence of animal production on the spread of antimicrobial resistance	33
Further spread of antimicrobial resistance: can it be stopped?	36
Recommendations	39
References	41
Appendix 1	54
Appendix 2	56

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) is grateful to the contributors and reviewers who lent their advice and expertise to the production of this FAO technical paper describing the drivers, dynamics and epidemiology of antimicrobial resistance in animal production.

In particular, FAO would like to thank the authors B.A. Wall, A. Mateus, L Marshall and D.U. Pfeiffer and the co-authors P. Otto, A. Patriarchi, H.J. Ormel and Juan Lubroth.

FAO is also most grateful for the valuable feedback received from the reviewers John Heritage<sup>\*</sup> and Sarah Cahill<sup>\*\*</sup>. Additionally, FAO shows appreciation to numerous colleagues of the FAO interdepartmental Working Group on Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR-WG). The authors would like to thank Sara Babo Martins, Katinka deBalogh, Rungtip Chuanchuen, Samuel Kariuki, Iddya Karunasagar, Robert Onsare, Jorge Pinto Ferreira, Jonathan Rushton, Shabbir Simjee, David Speksnijder, Katharina Stärk and Jaap Wagenaar for their contributions. The authors are also grateful to Carlos F. Amábile-Cuevas, Peter Collignon, Jorge O. Errecalde, Pilar Donado-Godoy, Mark Gersovitz, Christina Greko, Po-Ren Hsueh, Ramanan Laxminarayan, John Mitchell, George William Otim-Nape, Iruka N. Okeke, Son Radu, Michael P. Reichel, Enrique Perez Gutierrez, Thomas R. Shryock, Satoru Suzuki, Siddhartha Thakur and Jan Vaarten for their guidance and comments.

\* University Teaching Fellow and Senior Lecturer in Microbiology School of Molecular and Cellular Biology, University of Leeds, United Kingdom.

\*\* Food Safety Officer, FAO.

### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

It is now accepted that increased antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in bacteria affecting humans and animals in recent decades is primarily influenced by an increase in usage of antimicrobials for a variety of purposes, including therapeutic and non-therapeutic uses in animal production. Antimicrobial resistance is an ancient and naturally occurring phenomenon in bacteria. But the use of antimicrobial drugs - in health care, agriculture or industrial settings - exerts a selection pressure which can favour the survival of resistant strains (or genes) over susceptible ones, leading to a relative increase in resistant bacteria within microbial communities. It has been observed that, in countries where use of particular substances (e.g. fluoroquinolones) is banned in animal production, there are low levels of resistance to these antimicrobials in livestock populations. The rate of AMR emergence in ecosystems such as the human or animal gut is likely to be highly dependent on the quantity of antimicrobials used, along with the duration and frequency of exposure. In animal production, the prolonged use of antimicrobial growth promoters (AGPs) at subtherapeutic levels in large groups of livestock is known to encourage resistance emergence, and is still common practice in many countries today. Due to the interdependence and interconnectedness of epidemiological pathways between humans, animals and the environment, determining the relative importance of factors influencing AMR emergence and spread in animal production is a significant challenge, and is likely to remain one for some time.

In intensive livestock production systems, resistant bacteria can spread easily between animals and this can be exacerbated if biosecurity is inadequate. While some studies have shown reduced levels of AMR on organic farms, a high prevalence of multidrug-resistant (MDR) *Campylobacter* strains has been detected in organic pig farms in the United States even in the absence of antimicrobial usage (AMU).

In aquaculture, AMR can develop in aquatic and fish gut bacteria as a result of antimicrobial therapy or contamination of the aquatic environment with human or animal waste. The extent and persistence of antimicrobial residues in aquatic systems is unknown and current evidence is conflicting. Furthermore, no international guidelines currently exist for maximum antimicrobial residue limits in water. Water is an important vehicle for the spread of both antimicrobial residues and resistance determinants, since contaminated water can be consumed directly by humans and livestock and used to irrigate crops.

Food is likely to be quantitatively the most important potential transmission pathway from livestock to humans, although direct evidence linking AMR emergence in humans to food consumption is lacking. There is a theoretical risk of widespread dissemination of AMR due to the increasingly global nature of food trade and human travel. This would mean that strains of resistant bacteria could now very quickly reach parts of the world where they had previously not been present. Agricultural systems in emerging economies such as China and India have changed radically in recent years, becoming increasingly intensive in order to meet growing domestic and global demands for animal protein. This is likely to heighten the occurrence and spread of infectious diseases in these systems, thereby leading to increased AMU and therefore resistance.

If the selection pressure resulting from AMU in animals and humans were to be removed, this would still not completely halt the emergence and global spread of AMR due to the ability of AMR genes to move between bacteria, hosts and environments, and the occurrence of spontaneous mutations.

However, the release of large quantities of antimicrobials or resistant bacteria into the environment is still thought to be an important point for control, and therefore measures which encourage the prudent use of antimicrobials are likely to be extremely useful in reducing the emergence and spread of AMR. Future development of quickly biodegradable antimicrobials could help to reduce environmental contamination, and pharmacodynamic studies in livestock can be used to inform the optimization of AMU. Improved hygiene and biosecurity should be a major focus for all types of animal production systems so that the risks of introducing pathogens and resistance genes - and the spread of these within animal populations - can be reduced. Detailed, specific recommendations for countries to move towards more prudent AMU in different agricultural settings are, however, beyond the scope of this paper.

An improved understanding of the epidemiology of AMR emergence and spread in animal production will provide an essential foundation for successful mitigation strategies. There are still considerable gaps in our understanding of the complex mechanisms that lead to the emergence of AMR in bacteria, and the interactions that take place within microbial ecosystems enabling the transfer of resistance between bacteria. There are insufficient data at present to determine quantitatively how important the selection pressure of AMU is for the emergence of AMR in bacteria. Evidence regarding AMR transmission pathways between food animals and humans is lacking, especially from low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).

Such pathways are likely to be highly complex and multi-directional, especially in LMICs, but are still largely unknown. There remains little doubt, however, that the most significant factor in AMR emergence in humans is AMU for human treatment and prevention. It is clear that both human and animal AMU can contribute to environmental contamination, although collection of meaningful data is challenging. The relationships between different types of farming systems and both AMU and the emergence and spread of AMR are discussed in this paper, including extensive and organic systems, but there is still a notable lack of knowledge on the role that sustainable agriculture systems can play in combatting AMR. Most importantly, future research needs to involve an interdisciplinary (e.g. One Health) approach, integrating agricultural, medical, environmental and social sciences, and especially recognizing the importance of human behaviour. A set of specific recommendations to fill current knowledge gaps is presented in the final section of this technical paper.

# INTRODUCTION

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR)<sup>1</sup> both in human and veterinary medicine has reached alarming levels in most parts of the world and has now been recognized as a significant emerging threat to global public health and food security. In June 2015, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) passed a resolution on AMR at its governing Conference. This followed the adoption of counterpart resolutions on AMR by The World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE) and the World Health Organization (WHO) in May 2015<sup>2</sup>, and marked the beginning of a joint effort by the three organizations to combat AMR globally. The present technical paper was commissioned by FAO and is intended to inform a technical audience comprising scientists, policy-makers and stakeholders (including veterinarians and medics) in FAO Member States. A review was undertaken of the available scientific literature, grey literature, reports, and other sources of evidence, to examine the current state of knowledge on the relationship between animal production and AMR emergence and spread. The review methodology is described in detail in Appendix 1.

Overuse of antimicrobials and improper use in many parts of the world are recognized as key drivers of the emergence and spread of AMR (Aminov and Mackie, 2007, APUA, 2008, Aarestrup *et al.*, 2008, Acar and Moulin, 2012). Antimicrobials are used in food animals for treatment and for non-therapeutic purposes, and play a critical role in saving lives in both humans and animals. Over the last decade, global livestock production has been growing rapidly and has moved increasingly towards industrialized systems where antimicrobial use (AMU) is an integral part of production. It is projected that two thirds of the future growth of AMU will be for animal production (Van Boeckel et al., 2015). Although AMU in animals for growth promotion, prophylaxis and metaphylaxis (i.e. medicating mixed groups of healthy and infected animals in order to control outbreaks of disease) has been substantially reduced in high-income countries in recent years, data available indicate that livestock AMU will continue to increase in low- and middle-income countries during the next decades due to the growing demand in LMICs for animal protein (Van Boeckel et al., 2015).

Consequently, there is likely to be a commensurate increase in resistance to commonly used antimicrobials in these countries and regions, which does not bode well for treatment and management of infections in both humans and animals. This is especially important for zoonotic pathogens but also for commensal bacteria as these can act as reservoirs for resistance genes within the gut microbiota and the environment (the "resistome") (APUA, 2008). Indeed, resistance to colistin, an antimicrobial used as a last resort for treating multidrug-resistant (MDR) infections in humans, was recently detected in an-

FAO resolution: http://www.fao.org/3/a-mm736rev1e.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The term antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is used to refer to the ability of any microorganism (bacteria, viruses, parasites and fungi) to withstand the effect of one or more antimicrobial agents at clinically attainable concentrations, usually resulting in therapeutic failure. Throughout this document, AMR will be used to include resistance to antibacterial, antiviral and antiparasitic agents, although the focus will primarily be on bacterial resistance to antibacterial agents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Details of all three resolutions on AMR are now available in the public domain:

OIE resolution: http://www.oie.int/en/about-us/key-texts/resolutions-and-recommendations/resolutions-adopted-by-the-oieinternational-committee/

<sup>2015</sup> WHO resolution: http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA68/A68\_ACONF1Rev1-en.pdf

imals, retail meat and humans in China and subsequently has been discovered in most world regions (Skov and Monnet, 2016).

Despite the public health significance of, and global attention to, AMR, a number of important questions are still surrounded by significant uncertainty, especially concerning the epidemiological relationships between AMU and food animals, the occurrence of AMR in food animals and the exposure of humans to AMR via food products. This technical paper deals with the epidemiology of the emergence of AMR as a consequence of AMU in animal production, and the risk of its spread via food distribution and the environment. While this paper aims to take a global perspective, there are data gaps in certain regions of the world which means that some of the information presented has a European bias. The discussion begins with a technical description of the current state of knowledge regarding the acquisition of AMR by bacteria, and types and mechanisms of resistance in bacteria. Subsequently, the influence of animal production on the emergence of AMR in animals and humans is discussed. This is followed by an overview of local and global pathways of AMR transmission, and how these may be influenced by different livestock production systems.

### THE EMERGENCE OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE IN BACTERIA

Antimicrobial resistance was first described in 1940 in Bacillus coli (now known as Escherichia coli) by Abraham and Chain (1940), shortly before the start of the use of penicillin to treat infectious diseases in humans in the same year (Chain et al., 1940) and not long after its discovery by Fleming (1929). Since most antimicrobials in clinical use are naturally produced by soil microorganisms, such microorganisms are the source of many resistance genes now found in clinically relevant bacteria, as was demonstrated more than 40 years ago (Benveniste and Davies, 1973). Further phylogenetic analysis has shed some light on the evolutionary origins of resistance, indicating that bacteria evolved AMR genes long before the "antibiotic era" (Finley et al., 2013, Aminov and Mackie, 2007, Wellington et al., 2013, Martinez and Baguero, 2009), and even developed defences against synthetic compounds (D'Costa et al., 2011). There is growing evidence that AMR is in fact an ancient and natural part of the genome of environmental bacteria (Bhullar et al., 2012). However, it is important to realize that AMR was very rare in clinical isolates predating the introduction of antibiotics, as demonstrated in a retrospective analysis by Hughes and Datta (1983), which provides strong evidence for the central role of AMU in the emergence and spread of AMR as a public health threat.

#### **EVOLUTION OF RESISTANCE GENES**

In natural ecosystems, expression of AMR genes can act as a defence mechanism against antimicrobial- or toxin-producing competitors in the same ecological niche, or as a self-preservation mechanism in antimicrobial-producing bacteria (Martinez and Baquero, 2009, Courvalin, 2008). However, as the role of antimicrobials both in bacterial physiology and microbial ecology is mostly unknown – with theories ranging from the regulation of cell growth mobilization (Amábile-Cuevas, 1993, Davies and Davies, 2010) to environmental signalling (Yim *et al.*, 2007) – the role and evolutionary origins of AMR genes remain an educated guess.

Bacteria that are able to metabolize antimicrobials and use these as a source of nutrients have been found to express multidrug resistance (APUA, 2008). It is likely that resistance genes and determinants from these bacteria can be transferred to other bacterial species, even taxonomically and genetically distant ones (Aminov and Mackie, 2007). Many resistance genes were originally used by bacteria to support vital metabolic processes (Aminov and Mackie, 2007, Martinez and Baquero, 2009, Martinez, 2008). For example, some signalling molecules produced by environmental bacteria for communication purposes have been found to have antimicrobial activity (Martinez, 2008, Martinez and Baquero, 2009).

β-lactamase enzymes encoded by plasmids in environmental bacteria may originally have been involved in synthesis of peptidoglycans rather than in providing resistance to β-lactam antimicrobials (Martinez and Baquero, 2009). Environmental soil and water bacteria have been found to carry a pool of resistance genes (the "resistome") which can act as a reservoir of resistance for human pathogens (Forsberg *et al.*, 2012, Lupo *et al.*, 2012, APUA, 2008).

Environmental changes – such as those induced by anthropogenic activities (e.g. use of antimicrobials) – increasing human populations, urbanization, lack of treatment of sewage and animal waste (Martinez, 2008), and the intensification of agriculture and industry, can affect the emergence of resistance in bacterial populations (IFT, 2006, Li et al., 2015). The transfer of resistance genes between humans, animals and the environment has recently been reported in low-income population settings in Latin America (Pehrsson et al., 2016). Increased contact between human settlements, food-producing animals and wildlife has been reported as an important factor in the transfer of resistance traits and bacteria to species that usually would not be naturally exposed directly to selection pressure through antimicrobial therapy (Cristobal-Azkarate et al., 2014, Österblad et al., 2001). Horizontal gene transfer (HGT) movements between farm environments, food, and human gut microbiota were estimated in one study to be composed of over 75 percent resistance genes, but this was found also true for HGT episodes involving the human skin and oral system (Smillie *et al.*, 2011).

HGT movements were most likely to occur between phylogenetically diverse bacteria sharing the same ecological niche (e.g. human gut flora). The horizontal movement of genes can occur between Gram-negatives, Gram-positives and Actinobacteria; between aerobes and anaerobes; and between non-pathogenic and human-, animal- or plant-pathogenic bacteria (Amábile-Cuevas and Chicurel, 1992). For instance, glycopeptide-producing bacteria in the environment have been identified as a potential source of genes encoding vancomycin-resistance (van genes) to enterococci bacteria that can cause opportunistic disease in humans (i.e. vancomycin-resistant enterococci or VRE) (Courvalin, 2008). Enterococci can acquire, maintain and disseminate resistance genes to other enterococci and Gram-positive bacteria through mobile genetic units (e.g. transposons, plasmids). In some instances, mobile genetic units can account for up to 38 percent of the genome of enterococci (Werner et al., 2013).

Furthermore, it has been observed that enterococci of animal origin can also colonize the human gut (Werner *et al.*, 2013).

Therefore, dissemination of resistance genes can occur clonally, through vertical spread, and also via horizontal transfer through transposons and integrons (intracellular gene mobilization) and through integrative and conjugative elements (ICEs, such as conjugative transposons) and plasmids, among others (Amábile-Cuevas, 2012, Courvalin, 2008).

Resistance genes acquired through horizontal transfer and mutations can provide bacteria with an evolutionary advantage in relation to other competitors in the same ecological niche, as long as the resistance does not result in a negative impact on the bacteria's physiology, also known as the "fitness cost" (Martinez and Baquero, 2009, Courvalin, 2008). A particular population of bacteria may lose resistance traits in the absence of selection pressure by antimicrobials (Courvalin, 2008). However, acquired resistance genes may indirectly provide an evolutionary advantage for the bacteria, even in the absence of selection pressure (Aminov and Mackie, 2007). A bacterium may also undergo further "compensatory mutations" that allow it to reduce the fitness cost of the acquired resistance genes (Aminov and Mackie, 2007, Bergstrom and Feldgarden, 2007, IFT, 2006).

The presence of antimicrobials in the environment – as observed in hospitals or intensive farm settings – has been associated with the survival of strains with higher rates of mutation (e.g. bacteria with hypermutator phenotypes) (Martinez and Baquero, 2009, Courvalin, 2008, Aminov and Mackie, 2007). Hypermutator phenotypes have been observed in chronic infections in humans (Martinez and Baquero, 2009). Gullberg *et al.* (2011) have observed that very low concentrations of antimicrobials could enhance the survival of gene mutations in a bacterial population. Genetically, some bacteria have evolved to be diploids, which allows them to express both susceptibility and resistant traits (Courvalin, 2008). Likewise, mechanisms that previously were used for other purposes (e.g. efflux pumps in cell membranes) can be adopted by bacteria – such as observed in resistant *Escherichia coli* strains (Webber and Piddock, 2003) – in order to survive in an adverse environment, even in the presence of semi-synthetic or synthetic antimicrobials to which bacterial populations have not been previously exposed (e.g. fluoroquinolones) (Martinez and Baquero, 2009 Aminov and Mackie, 2007, Courvalin, 2008).

#### TYPES OF RESISTANCE: INTRINSIC VERSUS ACQUIRED

Bacteria can be naturally resistant to certain antimicrobial groups or substances (Prescott, 2008) (intrinsic resistance), or they can obtain resistance to antimicrobials through a variety of mechanisms, such as mutation (acquired resistance).

A brief overview of intrinsic and acquired resistance mechanisms is given in Table 1 and discussed below.

#### **Intrinsic resistance**

Intrinsic resistance is mediated by chromosomal genes (Alekshun and Levy, 2007, Courvalin, 2008) and is usually linked to physiological or anatomical characteristics of the bacteria (IFT, 2006), hence it is usually a trait shared by all organisms within the same genus or species (Courvalin, 2008). Resistance to penicillin G expressed by most Gram-negative bacteria is a common example (Boerlin and White, 2013, SCENIHR, 2009), this is due to the complexity of its cell wall with the presence of an outer membrane – absent in Gram-positive bacteria (IFT, 2006).

#### **Acquired resistance**

*Vertical transmission.* Chromosomal mutations are extremely rare (i.e.  $10^{-7}$  to  $10^{-9}$  frequency), but are very relevant to the development of resistance in bacterial clones (Courvalin, 2008) (Table 1). Mutations can either affect target or regulatory genes (Courvalin, 2008). Target mutations occur in structural genes that encode the specific targets of antimicrobial action (Courvalin, 2008).

Single point mutations are the most commonly observed once an antimicrobial substance is introduced (Bergstrom and Feldgarden, 2007), such as that observed with quinolone and macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter* spp. (Aarestrup *et al.*, 2008, Moore *et al.*, 2006, Cambau and Guillard, 2012).

Regulatory mutations usually affect gene expression mechanisms and are difficult to predict as they can occur spontaneously (Courvalin, 2008).

	Intrinsic resistance	Acquired resistance
Definition	<ul><li>Natural traits</li><li>Species or genus specific</li></ul>	<ul> <li>A strain that develops resistance to an antimicrobial to which it was previously susceptible</li> <li>Present only in certain strains of a species or genus</li> </ul>
Mechanisms of resistance acquisition	<ul> <li>Inherent structural or functional characteristics of the bacteria that allow it to tolerate or be insensitive to an antimicrobial substance or class</li> </ul>	Vertical transmission <ul> <li>Spontaneous gene mutation</li> <li>Induced gene mutation</li> </ul>
		Horizontal gene mutation • Bacterial transformation • Bacterial transduction • Bacterial conjugation

#### TABLE 1. Types of resistance observed in bacteria

Source: Boerlin and White, 2013

Unspecific efflux pumps, encoded at chromosomal level and therefore genus-specific, can confer multidrug resistance to unrelated antimicrobial substances (Courvalin, 2008, Demple and Amábile-Cuevas, 2003).

Horizontal transmission. When genes from a cell are transferred into another cell, independently of a reproductive event, this is known as "horizontal gene transfer" (HGT) (Table 1). HGT occurs through three main mechanisms: (a) transformation, the uptake of free DNA by a "competent" bacterial cell; (b) transduction, the mobilization of bacterial DNA from one bacterial cell to another by a bacteriophage (i.e. a virus); and (c) conjugation, the mobilization of DNA from a donor bacterium to a recipient bacterium, requiring physical contact and conjugative machinery (Amábile-Cuevas and Chicurel, 1992, Amábile-Cuevas, 2012).

HGT is probably the most relevant mode of resistance emergence and spread in bacterial populations (Aarestrup et al., 2008). Horizontal passage of resistance can arise through the transfer of single resistance determinants or of combinations of genes inserted in mobile structures: gene cassettes incorporated into integrons, which can be incorporated into transposons, and transposons which can be integrated into plasmids (Martinez and Baquero, 2009, Amábile-Cuevas and Chicurel, 1992). Integration and transposition allows the intracellular movement of genes, gathering several resistance determinants into a single genetic element, and also rearranging genes to modify their expression (Amábile-Cuevas, 2012, Mathew et al., 2007, Levy and Marshall, 2004, Mazel, 2004). Integrons were initially identified in Gram-negative bacteria but have also been detected in Gram-positives (Levy and Marshall, 2004). Class I integrons are commonly associated with resistance and found in isolates from livestock (Mathew et al., 2007), the presence of class I integrons in Escherichia coli is very dependent on selection pressures of human origin (Díaz-Mejía et *al.*, 2008), showing that antimicrobial pressure does not only select for AMR traits, but also for mechanisms of mobilization. Transposons, in turn, facilitate the transfer of genetic material within the same or different DNA molecules or even between different organisms as ICEs, as previously described (Martínez *et al.*, 2007). Plasmids are DNA structures that can be transmitted horizontally and/or vertically through bacterial clones (Martinez and Baquero, 2009). However, not all mobile modular units are effectively transferred or expressed between bacteria (Aarestrup *et al.*, 2008). For instance, some Gram-positive bacteria are not able to express genes transferred from Gram-negative bacteria (Courvalin, 2008).

Gathering of resistance genes in a single genetic element enables the co-selection of resistance by unrelated antimicrobials leading to multidrug resistance, and even potentially by non-antimicrobial compounds such as metal ions and biocides. Also, the assembly of plasmids enables the acquisition of resistance to several unrelated antimicrobials through a single event, such as conjugation. Finally, resistance genes are often found along with virulence traits in the same genetic element, making the bearer of such an element an enhanced, multidrug-resistant pathogen (Amábile-Cuevas, 2003).

#### Adaptive resistance

A number of regulated responses to environmental stress can activate AMR phenotypes by means of active efflux and/or diminished permeability. Among the best characterized of these responses are the *mar*RAB regulon and the *sox*RS regulon.

Both were first described in *Escherichia coli* but there are equivalent systems in many Gram-negative bacteria (Demple and Amábile-Cuevas, 2003).

Activating agents include a variety of compounds, ranging from antimicrobials to non-antibacterial drugs (e.g. phenazopyridine) (Amábile-Cuevas and Arredondo-García, 2013), and herbicides (e.g. glyphosate) (Kurenbach *et al.*, 2015). Resistance to antimicrobials achieved through these mechanisms disappears when the stimulus is gone and is thus distinct from intrinsic resistance. Single mutations in regulatory genes can cause a permanent overexpression of the whole regulon, hence turning the mutant into a full-resistance phenotype. However, there is no evidence for such mutations having been horizontally mobilized, confining this kind of acquired resistance to vertical inheritance.

#### MECHANISMS OF BACTERIAL RESISTANCE

There are a number of mechanisms that render a bacterial cell resistant to one or several antimicrobials.

These mechanisms can be organized into five broad categories: (1) decreased accumulation of the antimicrobial within the cell, either through diminished permeability and/or active efflux of the antimicrobial from the bacterial cell; (2) enzymatic modification or degradation of the antimicrobial; (3) acquisition of alternative metabolic pathways to those inhibited by the antimicrobial; (4) modification or protection of the antimicrobial target; and (5) overproduction of the target enzyme (*van* Hoek *et al.*, 2011). The cellular targets of antibiotics, and bacterial resistance mechanisms to main antimicrobial groups, are shown in Figure 1. A brief summary of acquired resistance mechanisms for different antimicrobial groups is provided in Appendix 2.

#### Multidrug resistance

A bacterial cell can achieve resistance to multiple, unrelated antimicrobials, by means of a single mutation. Such mutations often involve decreased

#### FIGURE 1. Antibiotic targets and mechanisms of resistance



/

7

accumulation of antimicrobials in the cell, either by decreased permeability (e.g. reduction in the number and/or pore size of outer membrane porins (Omps) in Gram-negative bacteria), and/or increased efflux through unspecific pumps (e.g. Acr-AB in enteric bacteria, Mex in *Pseudomonas* spp.).

#### Other biocides and toxic agents

A number of genes encoding resistance to non-antimicrobial agents have been found linked to AMR genes in single genetic elements, fostering co-selection. For instance, mercury-resistance genes *mer* (encoding transport systems, reductase enzymes and even lyase enzyme to detach mercury from organomercurial compounds) are commonly found along with AMR genes in the Gram-negative transposon Tn*21*, which also harbours an integron and staphylococcal resistance plasmids. Likewise, *qac* genes mediating resistance to quaternary-ammonium disinfectants – commonly used in hospital and agriculture settings – through active efflux, are found in the conserved region of class I integrons (Liebert *et al.*, 1999).

### THE RELEVANCE OF ANIMAL PRODUCTION IN THE EMERGENCE OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE

There is a substantial body of evidence to support the view that the emergence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria in livestock populations is connected to the emergence of AMR in bacterial populations that colonize and infect humans (Singer *et al.*, 2003, ECDC/EFSA/EMA, 2015, O'Neill, 2015). For example, a recent systematic review found that "a proportion of human extra-intestinal expanded-spectrum cephalosporin-resistant *Escherichia coli* (ESCR-EC) infections originate from food- producing animals", with poultry as a probable source (Lazarus *et al.*, 2015).

Despite this, other recent studies claim that most of the emergence of AMR in bacteria in humans appears to originate from AMU in humans, while the majority of AMR bacteria in livestock seem to originate from AMU in livestock. For example, phylogenetic and whole genome sequence analysis of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium DT104 in human and livestock populations in Scotland has shown a greater diversity of AMR genes in human S. Typhimurium DT104, by comparison with those isolated in local livestock populations. The implication is that there were contributing sources other than foods of animal origin or livestock (Mather et al., 2013). Studies based on the phenotypes of AMR bacterial populations have yielded similar conclusions (Mather et al., 2012). In addition, a recent systematic review reported that usage of antimicrobials of critical importance for human treatment (such as fluoroquinolones and third- and fourth-generation cephalosporins) was higher in humans than in food-producing animals after adjusting by biomass (ECDC/EFSA/EMA, 2015). In most cases, in both animals and humans, a positive association was found between the volume of antimicrobial consumption and prevalence of resistance in the exposed bacterial populations. Nevertheless, there is consensus within the scientific literature that there are routes for spillover of AMR between the bacterial populations of humans and food-producing animals in both directions. The most commonly mentioned route is via AMR bacteria (and genetic material) passed through food distribution and consumption, the majority of which are colonists of the host gastrointestinal tract (Lazarus et al., 2015). Such bacteria may be commensal in animals but pathogenic in humans, or may be commensal in both, but may later convey resistance to food-borne pathogens in the human gut (Singer et al., 2003). In general, the repercussions of such crossover events, in terms of human disease, appear to be exhibited in outbreak form (Mather et al., 2013), though this apparent pattern may be a result of reporting bias, as a result of a relatively high abundance of research into this route and evidence generated through government-led outbreak investigations. Strong and direct evidence for AMR transmission via food is still limited (Lazarus et al., 2015). For instance, a study in The Netherlands reported increased levels of ESBL (extended spectrum beta-lactamase) enzyme-producing bacterial isolates with similar resistance genes in poultry meat and humans (Overdevest et al., 2011). Further, there is evidence of AMR occurrence not only in animal-derived foodstuffs (Raufu et al., 2014, Dipeolu and Alonge 2002, Muriuki et al., 2001, Kariuki et al., 2013, NARMS, 2013, ECDC/EFSA/EMA, 2015, Duong et al., 2006, Thai et al., 2012) but also in vegetables (de Vasconcelos Byrne et al., 2016, Kim et al., 2015, McGowan et al., 2006). The recent detection of resistance to colistin in food-borne pathogens in humans, livestock, meat and vegetables across different countries raises the issue of the

potential role of global travel and trade in the transboundary dissemination of resistance genes (Skov and Monnet, 2016, Doumith *et al.*, 2016, Liu *et al.*, 2016, Kluytmans–van den Bergh *et al.*, 2016, Zurfuh *et al.*, 2016).

Some of the resistant bacterial populations documented, which are of importance to human health, are shown in Table 2. This is not an exhaustive list.

#### DRIVERS OF AMR EMERGENCE IN ANIMAL PRODUCTION

Although antimicrobial resistance occurs primarily as a consequence of selection pressure placed on susceptible microbes by the use of antimicrobial agents (Dione *et al.*, 2009, Glynn *et al.*, 2004, Grace *et al.*, 2008, Koningstein *et al.*, 2010), a variety of other factors also contribute to the emergence and spread of resistance. This section will specifically focus on factors driving AMR in agriculture.

Measures such as vaccination, limited co-mingling, adequate ventilation and temperature controls, biosecurity, appropriate nutrition and housing, and quality-assurance programmes are commonly used in modern animal production to reduce the risk of introduction and spread of infections in herds. But it must be recognized that these risk-management practices usually require substantial financial investment, as well as training and incentivizing staff. Even if these measures are implemented properly, however, a residual disease risk will remain (Adelaide *et al.*, 2008, Cerniglia and Kotarski, 2005, Kariuki *et al.*, 2013). Consequently, antimicrobials are commonly used non-therapeutically in livestock production as a kind of "insurance" in addition to other animal disease risk-management measures.

Resistance to tetracycline, penicillins and sulphonamides has been commonly observed among chicken and swine bacterial isolates, and MDR has been reported as significantly higher in these isolates than those from cattle. The intensive conditions under which pigs and chickens are often housed may be associated with greater disease potential and therefore a greater AMU in order to

### **TABLE 2.** Sources of antimicrobial resistance (bacteria and bacterial genes) in animal production settings

Bacterial species	Antimicrobial resistance pattern	Infections commonly observed in humans	Animal sources of human infection	Other known sources of human infection
Campylobacter spp.	Fluoroquinolones	Gastrointestinal (sequelae: Guillain-Barré syndrome)	Food-producing animals (poultry)	Raw unpasteurized milk, water
Enterococcus spp.	Aminoglycosides Ampicillin Vancomycin		Food-producing animals (poultry)	
<i>Escherichia</i> coli	Quinolones Sulphonamides Trimethoprim	Gastrointestinal, UTI, HUS		
LA-MRSA			Food-producing animals (pigs, calves, cows)	
<b>Salmonella spp.</b> (non-typhoidal)	Cephalosporins Quinolones Tetracyclines	Gastrointestinal	Food-producing animals (pigs, cows, poultry)	

Legend: HUS - Hemolytic Uremic Syndrome, LA-MRSA - Large Animal Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus, UTI - Urinary Tract Infection Source: Adapted from Furuya and Lowy (2006)

control sub-clinical infections (Duff and Galyean, 2007). In some non-European countries, antimicrobials are widely used by farmers without veterinary supervision due to their relatively low cost and ready availability for sale over the counter (Laxminarayan *et al.*, 2013). In Kenya, tetracyclines account for 55 percent of the antimicrobials used in food animals (Mitema *et al.*, 2001).

In another study in Kenya by Kariuki et al. (2013), oxytetracycline was the most commonly used among small-scale poultry farmers, while other antimicrobials used included fluoroquinolones (norfloxacin and enrofloxacin), erythromycin, sulphonamides and co-trimoxazole. Antimicrobials were readily available and mostly purchased over the counter or from animal health assistants, without resorting to veterinary advice. Drug quality was identified as an issue, as approximately one third of the drugs failed quality tests carried out by the National Quality Control Laboratory. In the same study, overall AMR among the pathogens and indicators tested was highest in poultry isolates, followed by those from pigs and cattle. This probably reflects the more intensive nature of poultry farming and higher levels of AMU observed.

Enteric bacterial isolates detected in food-producing animals and meat were commonly resistant to ampicillin, tetracycline, co-trimoxazole and streptomycin. The range of types of resistance observed was broader among poultry and chicken meat isolates, with notable additional resistance to guinolones and third-generation cephalosporins, which are critically important in human medicine. There was a trend for increased AMR prevalence and MDR among isolates from commercial abattoirs sourcing chickens from medium- and large-scale commercial farms. Tetracycline resistance was most common along meat value chains beginning with small-scale farms, correlating with farmers commonly reporting its use. Increased contamination and differences in AMR patterns were observed between isolates from beef carcasses at the abattoir and those from retail beef in some supply chains, suggesting the possibility of contamination at

a later stage during the value chain in that setting. A noteworthy observation from this study was that the AMR patterns of E. coli isolated from children under five years of age at outpatient clinics in the meat value chain study areas reflected the commonly used antimicrobials in human medicine, including ampicillin, co-trimoxazole, streptomycin and amoxicillin-clavulanic acid, with lower levels of resistance to third-generation cephalosporins and ciprofloxacin. This suggests that contaminated meat may be just one exposure pathway for humans. The findings emphasize the need for further work to better define such pathways and their relative importance, and the potential for targeted risk management. Nevertheless, food is likely to still be an important vehicle for transmission of resistant bacteria from animals to humans. Additional factors that can drive AMR include environmental contamination with excreted antimicrobials or their metabolites, residue concentrations of antimicrobials in edible tissues, and direct zoonotic transmission (Pruden and Arabi, 2011, Marshall and Levy, 2011, Padungtod et al., 2006, Aarestrup, 2006, O'Neill, 2016).

The loss of effective antimicrobials to treat sick animals adversely affects livestock production and farmers' livelihoods (Cerniglia and Kotarski, 2005). An additional risk for anyone involved in the meat production chain is exposure to resistant bacteria.

For example, farmers working with cattle, pigs and poultry are more likely to be infected with methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA-398) than other individuals in the community (Garcia-Alvarez *et al.*, 2012, Lewis *et al.*, 2008).

#### CATEGORIES OF AMU IN ANIMAL PRODUCTION IN RELATION TO THE EMERGENCE OF AMR

#### **Antimicrobial Use**

Widespread antimicrobial use is considered to be the main factor associated with resistance in bacterial populations (APUA, 2008, Aarestrup *et al.*, 2008,

Acar and Moulin, 2012). The use of antimicrobials in health care, agriculture, horticulture, aquaculture and industrial settings has an impact on the expression, selection, persistence and transfer of resistance traits in bacterial populations (Aminov and Mackie, 2007, Courvalin, 2008, Mathew et al., 2007, PCIFAP, 2010). Excessive use and misuse of antimicrobials are widely recognized as two of the major drivers for acquired AMR, both directly and indirectly, due to the selection pressure imposed on human and animal microbiota (WHO, 2014a, Novo et al., 2013, PHE, 2014), and on environmental bacteria (Martinez and Baquero, 2009). Many of the antimicrobial substances licensed for veterinary use belong to antimicrobial classes or groups routinely used in humans. Table 3 provides an example of those licensed for use in animals in the EU.

Usage of third-generation cephalosporins (e.g. ceftiofur), deemed as critically important antimicrobials in humans (WHO, 2012), has been associated with the selection of co-resistance to disparate antimicrobials such as tetracycline and chloramphenicol in enteric Escherichia coli bacteria (Lowrance et al., 2007). This has been observed in hospitals, farms, wastewater and sewage environments and in the gut of treated animals and humans (Martinez and Baquero, 2009, APUA, 2008). The persistence of antimicrobial residues in feed and animal waste contaminating soil and water also affects the aquatic and environmental microbiomes (You and Silbergeld, 2014). Colistin (polymyxin E) has been used in veterinary medicine for several decades, and is used across different food-producing animal species (e.g. pigs, poultry, sheep, goats, calves and adult cattle) including farmed fish. Indications for usage range from gastrointestinal infections by Gram-negative bacteria to topical treatment of mastitis, colistin is often supplied in feed and water in intensive systems, not only for treatment purposes but also for prophylactic and metaphylactic purposes in groups of animals (Catry et al., 2015, EMA, 2015). Colistin is also currently used in human medicine for the treatment of infections caused by MDR carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacteria, in combination with tigecycline, which has led colistin to be reclassified as a highly important antimicrobial by WHO (Catry *et al.*, 2015, EMA, 2015, WHO, 2012). The recent detection of acquired colistin resistance in food-borne pathogens in animals, foods and humans (associated with infection), observed across several countries, raises serious and urgent public health concerns (Figures 2 and 3) (Skov and Monnet, 2016). It is currently recommended that, for veterinary purposes, colistin should only be used for treatment (Catry *et al.*, 2015, EMA, 2015).

However, there are currently limited data on the extent and patterns of antimicrobial usage observed in food-producing animals, particularly in LMICs.

Only a few countries in Europe (e.g. the Netherlands, Denmark, Sweden) currently conduct integrated surveillance of AMU and AMR in humans, animals and food products of animal origin. At European level, the ESVAC (European Surveillance of Veterinary Antimicrobial Consumption) programme assesses antimicrobial sales, adjusted by biomass of livestock populations, across different European countries (ESVAC, 2015). A recent study by Van Boeckel *et al.* (2015) used statistical models based on the data from 32 countries to estimate the extent of antimicrobial usage in food-producing animals at global level (Figure 4).

The emergence of AMR strains is dependent on several factors relating to the antimicrobial itself (e.g. amount, dosage, frequency and duration of selection pressure) and the organism (e.g. presence of genes conferring resistance to that particular substance, and advantage provided by the expression of these to the survival of the bacteria) (McEwen, 2006). Use of antimicrobials may unblock gene expression, resulting in the development of resistance genes in bacteria (Courvalin, 2008, Lambert, 2012) or promoting the occurrence of mutations (Martínez *et al.*, 2007). This kind of selection pressure is an important factor in the dissemination of resistance

Antimicrobial class	Veterinary use in the EU	Major indications	Risk to public health	Hazard of zoonotic relevance	Probability of AMR transfer
Aminoglycosides (e.g. gentamicin, neomycin)	Species: cattle, sheep, goats, horses, dogs and cats	<ul><li>Septicaemias</li><li>Digestive, respiratory and urinary infections</li></ul>	Risk profiling required	Enterobacteriaceae Enterococcus spp.	High
Cephalosporins (3 <sup>rd</sup> and 4 <sup>th</sup> generation)	Species: cattle, pigs, horses, dogs and cats	<ul><li>Septicaemias</li><li>Respiratory infections</li><li>Mastitis</li></ul>	High	Enterobacteriaceae	High
(Fluoro) quinolones	Species: cattle, pigs, chickens, turkeys, rabbits, dogs and cats	<ul><li>Septicaemias</li><li>Infections (e.g. colibacillosis)</li></ul>	High	<i>Campylobacter</i> spp. Enterobacteriaceae	High
Macrolides (including ketolides)	Species: cattle, sheep, pigs, and poultry	<ul> <li>Mycoplasma infections (pigs and poultry)</li> <li>Haemorrhagic digestive disease and prolifera- tive enteropathies (leitis) associated with <i>Lawsonia</i> <i>intracellularis</i> (pigs)</li> <li>Respiratory infections</li> <li>(cattle and sheep)</li> <li>Liver abscesses (cattle)</li> </ul>	Low to limited	Campylobacter spp. Salmonella spp.	High
Penicillins (natural- Lactamase- sensitive)	Species: cattle, sheep, poultry, horses, dogs and cats	<ul> <li>Septicaemias</li> <li>Respiratory infections</li> <li>Mastitis</li> </ul>	Low or limited	None specific	High
Penicillins (broad spectrum beta- lactamase-sensitive) Aminopenicillins	Species: cattle, sheep, pigs, poultry and dogs	<ul> <li>Pasteurellosis and colibacillosis (poultry)</li> <li><i>Streptococcus suis</i> infections (pigs)</li> <li>Respiratory infections (cattle and pigs)</li> </ul>	Further risk profiling required	Enterobacteriaceae Enterococcus spp.	High
Penicillins (narrow spectrum beta- actamase resistant)	Species: cattle and sheep	<ul><li>Metritis</li><li>Mastitis</li></ul>	Low or limited	None specific	High
Penicillins (Beta- lactamase protected broad spectrum) - Co-amoxiclav	Species: cattle, pigs, dogs and cats	<ul> <li>Respiratory infections</li> <li>Mastitis</li> <li>Metritis</li> <li>Colibacillosis (cattle and pigs)</li> </ul>	Further risk profiling required	Enterobacteriaceae Enterococcus spp.	High
Polymyxins (including colistin or polymyxin E)	Species: cattle, sheep, pigs and poultry	<ul> <li>Septicaemias</li> <li>Colibacillosis</li> <li>Urinary infections</li> <li>Gram-negative digestive infections</li> </ul>	Currently under evaluation	Enterobacteriaceae	Low*
Rifamycin (rifampicin)	Species: cattle	<ul><li>Mastitis</li><li>Metritis</li></ul>	Low or limited	None specific	High
Tetracyclines	Species: cattle, sheep, goats, pigs, horses and poultry	<ul> <li>Respiratory diseases</li> <li>Bacterial enteritis</li> <li>Urinary tract infections</li> <li>Metritis</li> <li>Mastitis</li> <li>Pyodermatitis</li> <li>Keratoconjutivitis (cattle)</li> <li>Chlamydiosis</li> <li>Heartwater</li> <li>Anaplasmosis</li> <li>Actinomycosis</li> <li>Actinobacilosis</li> <li>Ehrlichiosis</li> <li>Resistant strains</li> </ul>	Low or limited	<i>Brucella</i> spp.	High

#### TABLE 3. List of antimicrobial classes licensed for veterinary use in the EU and main indications

\*May need to be reassessed in the light of new evidence of the emergence of plasmid-mediated colistin resistance in animals and humans

(Catry et al., 2015, Skov et al., 2016).

Source: Adapted from EMA, 2014

of Staphylococcus aureus

**FIGURE 2.** Geographical distribution of detected colistin resistance (mcr-1 gene) in food-producing animals as of March 2016



Source: Skov and Monnet, 2016

**FIGURE 3.** Geographical distribution of detected colistin resistance (mcr-1 gene) in humans as of March 2016



Source: Skov and Monnet, 2016

**FIGURE 4.** Estimated antimicrobial consumption in food-producing animals at global level in milligrams per 10 km<sup>2</sup> pixel (top map), and average standard deviation (SD) of estimates of milligrams per PCU (Population Correction Factor), a technical unit of measurement which acts as a proxy for the size of the animal population (bottom map)



Log10 [(mg/pixel)+1]

Source: Van Boeckel et al., 2015

determinants (Courvalin, 2008). Antimicrobials as disparate as fluoroquinolones and  $\beta$ -lactams may even foster the intra- and inter-cellular mobilization of resistance genes (Amábile-Cuevas, 2012). Prolonged antimicrobial exposure has been associated with acquisition of multidrug resistance in enteric bacteria in both humans and animals (Levy and Marshall, 2004), and also in aquaculture (Nonaka *et al.*, 2007). The use of combinations of antimicrobials may also result in the selection of MDR bacterial strains (Martinez and Baquero, 2009). Use of oral systemic antimicrobials in groups of animals is common practice in conventional farms, particularly in pigs (Burow et al., 2014) and poultry (Apata, 2009).

This places selection pressure on both commensal and pathogenic bacteria in the gut flora, which promotes the exchange of genetic material (Courvalin, 2008, Burow *et al.*, 2014). Antimicrobial usage is particularly high in monogastric species (poultry and pigs), compared to other food-producing animals.

These are typically kept in intensive, indoor production systems at high densities, and are therefore vulnerable to infectious disease challenges (McEwan and Fedorka-Cray, 2002, O'Neill, 2016). In monogastric production systems, the dosage, frequency and duration of antimicrobial therapy is likely to be high. Since it has been estimated that 75 to 90 percent of antimicrobials used in livestock are excreted, mostly unmetabolized (Marshall and Levy, 2011), the concentration of antimicrobial residues in these farm environments is likely to be high. This is a crucial risk factor for the emergence of AMR.

AMU also impacts on the competition for nutrients between bacterial populations in ecosystems through the elimination of susceptible bacteria (Aarestrup et al., 2008). In a recent simulation model by Volkova et al. (2013), plasmid-mediated resistance to ceftiofur in Escherichia coli in livestock was affected by the reduction of numbers of susceptible bacteria in the gut microbiota. Use of antimicrobials also appears to reduce the infective dose required by resistant pathogens to cause infection, posing a serious risk for hosts colonized with, or exposed to, these bacteria (da Costa et al., 2013). Although there is evidence of occurrence of resistance in gut commensal bacteria (e.g. Escherichia coli, Enterococcus spp.) in food-producing animals and foods of animal origin (Chantziaras et al., 2014), there are currently scarce data on the role of these bacteria as potential sources of resistance genes for human and animal pathogens (Courvalin, 2008).

Simulation studies by Volkova *et al.* (2012) have predicted that the survival of resistant commensal bacteria in between antimicrobial doses in livestock can be expected. However, maintenance of resistance would be dependent on bacteria- and plasmid-specific biological and ecological factors, and on the prevalence of resistant bacteria in the host and in the environment (da Costa *et al.*, 2013).

The same issues have been discussed in humans carrying resistant strains and undertaking antimicrobial therapy (da Costa *et al.*, 2013, PHE, 2014). In *Escherichia coli*, transfer of resistance determinants between bacteria has been mainly associated with the selection pressure imposed by AMU (da Costa *et al.*, 2013). Use of  $\beta$ -lactams has been associated with increased levels of MRSA 398 strain isolated in livestock through a co-selection mechanism (ECDC/EFSA/EMA, 2009).

Use of third-generation cephalosporins in livestock has been associated with emergence and spread of ESBLs in Gram-negative bacteria, which poses a serious risk to public health (Aarestrup et al., 2008). The sporadic isolation of carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacteria in livestock is also deemed a serious risk to public health, as carbapenems are considered "last-resort" **β**-lactam antimicrobials for therapy of life-threatening infections in humans. Carbapenems are not currently used in food-producing animals and are predominantly used in human hospital settings (Table 4). Nevertheless, there could be a risk of co-resistance through use of other antimicrobials in agriculture or through horizontal transfer from human pathogens (EFSA, 2013). Transfer of resistance traits within the bacterial cell can be induced by AMU and has been observed with macrolides in Enterobacteriaceae. Erythromycin promotes the transposition of erythromycin-resistant genes from a non-conjugative to a conjugative plasmid, which can then become mobile between bacteria (Courvalin, 2008). In contrast, in countries where use of particular substances (e.g. fluoroquinolones) is discouraged in livestock, low levels of, or no resistance to, these antimicrobials are observed in foodborne zoonotic pathogens (Aarestrup et al., 2008).

Antimicrobials at low dosages (i.e. residual levels, sub-lethal or sub-therapeutic dosages) are also factors contributing to resistance as they promote genetic and phenotypic variability in exposed bacteria (Andersson and Hughes, 2014, You and Silbergeld, 2014, Martinez, 2008), even though they are less likely to kill susceptible bacteria – leading to selection bias – than antimicrobials administered at higher dosages. In addition, sub-lethal dosing also appears to increase gene expression, development of virulence and formation of biofilms that

16

Antimicrobial class	Hazard of zoonotic relevance	Probability of AMR transfer
Carbapenems and other penems	Enterobacteriaceae	High
Ceftaroline and ceftobiprole (e.g. fosfomycin)	MRSA	Low
Glycopeptides	<ul><li><i>Enterococcus</i> spp.</li><li>MRSA</li></ul>	High
Glycylcyclines	<ul><li>Enterobacteriaceae</li><li>MRSA</li></ul>	Low
Lipopeptides	<ul><li> Enterococcus spp.</li><li>MRSA</li></ul>	Low
Monobactams	Enterobacteriaceae	High
Oxazolidinones	<ul><li><i>Enterococcus</i> spp.</li><li>MRSA</li></ul>	High
Penicillins (carboxypenicillins and ureido-penicillins including beta-lactamase inhibitors combinations)	<ul><li>Enterobacteriaceae</li><li>Enterococcus spp.</li></ul>	High
Riminofenazines	None specific	Low
Sulfones	None specific	Low
Drugs used solely to treat tuberculosis or other mycobacterial diseases	None specific	High

#### TABLE 4. Antimicrobial groups currently not licensed for veterinary use in the EU

are also indirectly responsible for resistance due to the close proximity of bacteria, which may favour the horizontal transfer of mobile resistance determinants (Andersson and Hughes, 2014, Lupo *et al.*, 2012).

Soil (Mathew et al., 2007, Forsberg et al., 2012) and water (Lupo et al., 2012) bacteria have been described as reservoirs for resistance genes, and are exposed to antimicrobial residues derived from human, industrial, and agricultural use (Forsberg et al., 2012) (Figure 5). Persistence of resistant bacteria and resistance genes in the farm environment and in medicated feed has been associated with acquisition of resistance by enterococci bacteria isolated from livestock and poultry and it is currently a major public health issue (da Costa et al., 2013, You and Silbergeld, 2014, IFT, 2006, Acar and Moulin, 2012). Presence of antimicrobial residues derived from anthropogenic, industrial and agricultural usage in the aquatic and terrestrial environments also contribute to selection pressure on environmental bacteria (Lupo et al., 2012, Forsberg et al., 2012, You and Silbergeld, 2014) and commensal and pathogenic bacteria present in the gut microbiota of farmed animals (You and Silbergeld, 2014). It must be noted that antimicrobials differ in how efficiently they are processed in animal guts (and thus in the volume of residue excreted) (Kemper, 2008), and in how long the residues remain bioavailable in the environment (e.g. how quickly they are adsorbed to soil) (Kumar et al., 2005, Kemper, 2008). Therefore different antimicrobials pose different levels of public health risk (AAM, 2009). For example, sulphonamides do not strongly adsorb to soil, thus remaining bioavailable in the environment for relatively long periods (Wegst-Uhrich et al., 2014). Excretion rates are dependent on the type of antimicrobial, mode of administration, animal species and period since administration. Excretion rates for tetracyclines and sulphonamides may vary between 40 and 90 percent, for example (Kemper, 2008). There is currently a lack of data on concentrations of antimicrobials in soil, manure and surface water, perhaps due to insufficiently sensitive analytical methods (Thanner et al., 2016). Importantly, antimicrobials which are concentration-dependent, such as fluoroquinolones and aminoglycosides, are more likely to rapidly exert

selection pressure on bacteria in soil or water before they are diluted, in comparison to time-dependent antimicrobials (such as macrolides and  $\beta$ -lactams) which require sustained high concentrations in order to have an effect on bacterial viability (Amábile-Cuevas, 2016).

The growing prevalence of MDR organisms enables coselection, hence requiring the removal of all antimicrobials in order to achieve a useful reduction in the prevalence of resistance. However, reduction of numbers of resistant bacteria may only be possible if these are outnumbered by susceptible bacteria in an antimicrobial-free environment in which only a small number of individuals have been exposed to antimicrobials, or in the presence of a limited "selection density" (Levy and Marshall, 2004). This will usually not be the case in high-selection-density environments such as hospitals and conventional intensive farms (Levy and Marshall, 2004, PHE, 2014).

#### Antimicrobial growth promoters (AGPs)

Exposure of bacteria to sub-therapeutic concentrations of antimicrobials is likely to have an important role in AMR evolution (Andersson and Hughes, 2014). The use of AGPs as feed additives in intensively produced animals has been found to alter the gut microbiota of treated animals and promote resistance transfer within the animal and the environmental microbiome (You and Silbergeld, 2014). AGPs are administered at sub-therapeutic dosages to groups of animals via drinking water or feed for prolonged periods to improve growth rates (Wielinga et al., 2014, Capita and Alonso-Calleja, 2013, Castanon, 2007). AGPs are sold and used in many countries without veterinary prescription or supervision (Laxminarayan et al., 2013). There is still conflicting evidence, however, as to whether the improvement in animal production due to the use of AGPs is significant, and the mechanism behind any such effect is still largely unknown (Lee et al., 2012).

It is important to state that the impact of AGPs on productivity could be as little as 1 percent or lower, if nutrition, hygienic practices and health care of the herd or flock are also improved (Laxminarayan, 2015). However such necessary improvements may not always be easy to achieve, especially in LMICs, where resources are limited. The banning of AGPs in Europe in 2006 (European Commission, 2005) led to a reduction in the levels of vancomycin-resistant enterococci (VRE) previously observed in poultry in Denmark (Singer et al., 2003). Vancomycin was not licensed for use in poultry, but resistance had emerged as result of the use of avoparcin (also a glycopeptide) as an AGP in poultry production (Singer et al., 2003, Wielinga et al., 2014). Even though sub-therapeutic dosages have been linked to the emergence of antimicrobial resistance, AGPs continue to be used in many non-EU countries in intensive animal production, although the extent of this is currently unknown (Singer et al., 2003, Capita and Alonso-Calleja, 2013, Castanon, 2007). There has been a recent move in the United States to reduce their use (BVA, 2012).

Animal feed is supplemented by other, non-antimicrobial compounds, which may, in turn, affect microorganisms. Sepiolite, for instance, has been used as an additive in animal feed since 1990 in the EU. It slows the passage of food through the intestinal tract, enabling a better absorption of nutrients. Sepiolite is not an antimicrobial, nor does it exert any antimicrobial effect, but it does promote the horizontal transfer of resistance plasmids between bacteria, which could be aggravated if there is concomitant presence of AGPs (Rodríguez-Beltrán *et al.*, 2013). This is just one example of the very complex and unpredictable interactions made possible by the use of antimicrobials.

#### **Prophylaxis**

This is defined as the administration of an antimicrobial to susceptible but healthy animals to prevent the occurrence of infectious disease. A common example is the infiltration of the mammary **FIGURE 5.** Antimicrobial usage in humans, animals and agriculture, and resulting dispersion of antimicrobial residues into aquatic and terrestrial environments (represented by red dots)



Source: Van Boeckel et al., 2014

glands of dairy cattle with antimicrobials such as penicillins, cephalosporins, or other lactams after cessation of lactation (Landers *et al.*, 2012, Capita and Alonso-Calleja, 2013). Such AMU is likely to have a similar effect to that of growth promoters, although therapeutic levels of dosing, if adhered to, should be less likely to induce resistance in exposed bacterial populations.

Nevertheless, this may not be the case when the administration occurs in animal groups through water and feed (e.g. pigs, poultry) due to the variations in consumption by individual animals and the number of animals exposed. It must also be noted that – particularly in countries where antimicrobial production and storage chains are inadequate (due to environmental or infrastructure-related issues) – antimicrobials may be susceptible to degradation through oxidation-reduction reactions, hydrolysis, biodegradation or photodegradation (Osei Sekyere, 2014). These antimicrobial preparations may then have reduced concentration and bactericidal activity when used, allowing for the survival of exposed bacteria and the generation of resistance (Osei Sekyere, 2014).

In addition to the use of antimicrobials in livestock, tetracyclines have been used in honeybee colonies since the 1950s in the United States to control infections by *Melissococcus pluton* and *Paenibacillus larvae*. The diversity of *tet* genes encoding either efflux pumps or ribosome protection has been detected at high levels in the microbiota of US honeybees, while only exceptionally in bees from countries where tetracyclines are not used (Tian *et al.*, 2012).

#### **Metaphylaxis**

Defined as the administration of an antimicrobial at therapeutic doses to all animals within a group in which some individuals have exhibited infection. Metaphylaxis acts both as a treatment for those animals currently infected and a preventive measure against infection in those animals who are healthy but risk becoming infected. The administration of oxytetracycline in the flock water supply, as treatment and prevention against mycoplasma infections in poultry, is a common example. The number of animals exposed to metaphylaxis is often large: in poultry production, medicated water or feed can be used to treat more than 30 000 birds in the same flock. In addition, even if precise dosing is used - for example where antimicrobials are administered to all members of a herd in injectable form – such widespread AMU inevitably increases the risk of resistance emergence, due to the increased probability of bacteria with natural resistance encountering the antimicrobial and potentially being selected for within the affected microbiota.

#### Therapeutic use

This describes treatment of active bacterial infection in a single animal, or a group, via antimicrobial administration. Whereas even a single dose of antimicrobial administered to a single animal has the propensity to generate AMR within bacterial populations resident in that animal, the repeated and continued usage of antimicrobials, for example to treat recurrent infections, compounds this risk (Usui et al., 2014, Harada and Asai, 2010). Often, broad-spectrum antimicrobials are used in livestock before, or in place of, a confirmed diagnosis (for example before undertaking any antimicrobial susceptibility testing) due to economic considerations. The administration of macrolide antimicrobials such as erythromycin to pigs, regardless of the route of administration, has been shown to select for resistance in Campylobacter spp. strains (Harada and Asai, 2010). The duration of systemic treatment should only be long enough to ensure elimination of infection in the affected animal or animal populations as this could result in further selective pressure on the gut microbiota (EMA, 2015). Correct dosing is very important for the reasons stated above. In addition, for antimicrobial substances that have been licensed for veterinary use for many years, recommended dosages by manufacturers in the Summaries of Products Characteristics (SPCs) may not always be adequate as these may have not been calculated in accordance with updated pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics principles, or may not have taken account of the evolution of antimicrobial susceptibility in bacterial populations (EMA, 2015).

It is important to note that when antimicrobials are administered via largely unregulated vehicles such as feed or water – whether for therapeutic, metaphylactic or prophylactic purposes – the exact intake of individual animals will be hard to ensure and define, and sub-optimal dosing may occur (particularly of sick animals within a group housing and/or an *ad lib* feed and water system), increasing the risk of AMR emergence.

#### **Biocide use**

These are substances which, through chemical or biological action, hinder the activity of a broad spectrum of microorganisms (SCENIHR, 2009, IFT, 2006).

Not only are they commonly used in agricultural settings – their use is also frequent in human health-care systems and at community level. They may lead to emergence of AMR through cross-resistance, co-resistance and clonal drift mechanisms, and by activating an SOS response in bacteria leading to the repair and integration of DNA, some of which may include resistance genes (Capita and Alonso-Calleja, 2013, Davin-Regli and Pagès, 2012). Biocide use within the agricultural industry can be divided into two broad categories: a) animal feed preservatives and b) disinfectants and antiseptics. Within the food-production industry, biocides may also be used as food preservatives or decontaminants. Examples include sulphites, lactic acid, trisodium phosphate or acidified sodium chlorate. Such compounds inhibit the growth of microorganisms in, or on, foodstuffs and produce (Capita and Alonso-Calleja, 2013).

Lower susceptibility and resistance to biocides has been reported in bacterial populations since the 1950s (Davin-Regli and Pagès, 2012). Plasmids, transposons and integrons often also carry genes conferring resistance to biocides (e.g. disinfectants and antiseptics) and to heavy metals, providing an evolutionary advantage to the resistant bacteria even in the absence of antimicrobial pressure (Martinez and Baguero, 2009, Acar and Moulin, 2012). Resistance mechanisms are similar for biocides and antimicrobial substances: selection pressure from biocide use - in food production, industrial, agricultural and human health care settings, and water and wastewater treatment facilities - could result in cross- or co-selection for AMR (Davin-Regli and Pagès, 2012, SCENIHR, 2009). Biocides and antimicrobial substances may share common target sites (SCENIHR, 2009) and can be located closely together in mobile units (e.g. plasmids), leading to co-resistance (Levy and Marshall, 2004). Efflux pumps coded at chromosomal level have been involved in resistance to both antimicrobials and biocides (e.g. quaternary ammonium) due to their non-specific mechanism (Cambau and Guillard, 2012). Resistance to biocides has been associated with stress responses in bacteria, particularly when in the presence of sub-lethal doses but also in the presence of other stressors in the environment (e.g. osmotic and oxidative pressure, pH, nutrient availability) (IFT, 2006). Non-compliance with recommended dilution, preparation and storage of biocides may explain the increased tolerance to these products at low or sub-lethal concentrations and changes in phenotypic expression (e.g. membrane permeability, changes in membrane charge, efflux pumps, biofilm formation) of exposed bacterial populations (Davin-Regli and Pagès, 2012, SCENIHR, 2009). There is currently a paucity of data relating to the extent of biocide use, presence of environmental residues and environmental stability (SCENIHR, 2009). Although risk assessment for AMR occurrence due to exposure to biocides is now a mandatory requirement for registration and licensing of these substances in European countries (Anon., 2012), there is still little information on the correlation between biocides and antimicrobial resistance (Oggioni et al., 2015).

Quaternary ammonium compounds or ethanol, for example, are used to destroy or inhibit microorganisms in animal husbandry and food production and processing facilities. In a recent study, *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Salmonella enterica* strains exhibited reduced susceptibility to chlorine dioxide and peroxyacids when exposed to increasing concentrations of these chemicals over time. In addition, the resistance of these bacterial species to various antimicrobials also increased after disinfectant exposure. Prior exposure to acidic disinfectants also increased the percentage of *L. monocytogenes* bacteria surviving subsequent acid treatments (SCENIHR, 2009).

Despite several existing studies providing evidence of a role of biocides in the emergence of AMR, exceptions exist where only weak or moderate correlations were observed between phenotypic biocide resistance and AMR in some bacteria such

as Staphylococcus aureus (Oggioni et al., 2015). Therefore, further research is needed to assess the impact of biocides on pathogens relevant to public health. Since such substances are used ubiquitously and in large quantities throughout the food chain, it may be surmised that their relative impact on AMR emergence within agriculture and food industries may be important. Nevertheless, in order to quantify further the repercussions of biocide use on the emergence of AMR within and outside the agricultural industry, further in-field surveillance of biocide use, and research into potential causal associations, is warranted (Fraise, 2002). It must also be noted that the use of biocides is very widespread in many industries, and the disease burden to humans and domestic animals without their use would need to be weighed against any potential benefits from their reduced use.

#### **Animal feed preservatives**

Preservatives such as citric acid or sodium benzoate protect animal feed against decay caused by microorganisms. Such organic acids when ingested by food-producing animals may induce a selection pressure on gut bacteria (SCENIHR, 2009). In addition, these preservatives are often added in large quantities to feed such as silage, an increasing trend globally. This silage, if stored in such a manner that effluent can contaminate the environment, may potentially extend selection pressure to environmental bacteria.

#### **Heavy Metals**

Heavy metals may be used in agriculture as part of livestock feed supplements, and in a Chinese study were detected in manure from pig farms (Zhu *et al.*, 2013). Heavy metals have been associated with the emergence and spread of AMR in environmental bacteria due to co-selection.

The presence of heavy metals has also been associated with the reduction of susceptibility of bacterial populations in soil (Aminov and Mackie, 2007) and commensal bacteria (e.g. enterococci) (Werner et al., 2013) to antimicrobials. Heavy metals in soil could be derived from mining and industrial activities but also from agriculture and health care (e.g. mercury in dental amalgams) (Aminov and Mackie, 2007). AGPs used in livestock production can also contain heavy metals as trace elements (e.g. copper, zinc), or medication (e.g. arsenic in coccidiostatics) (You and Silbergeld, 2014). These metals can co-select for AMR not only in the gut microbiota but also in the environment through their persistence in animal waste (You and Silbergeld, 2014). Commensals and pathogens in the gut microbiota of animals could also be exposed to heavy metals through contaminated feed (e.g. mercury in fishmeal) (Defra, 2014, You and Silbergeld, 2014).

# Other potential sources of resistance emergence and maintenance

One hypothesis is that stress and resistance genes in the bacterial genome are located closely together, which would promote their co-expression under stressful conditions, even in the absence of AMU (Mathew *et al.*, 2007). Stressors identified as associated with emergence and transfer of resistance include extreme temperatures and variations on osmotic pressure and pH that could have an impact on the integrity of the DNA and affect bacterial survival (Aarestrup *et al.*, 2008). Lack of biodiversity in ecosystems – often due to human action – also seems to drive the emergence of resistance determinants and bacteria (da Costa *et al.*, 2013).

Transfer of resistant bacterial clones to hosts (i.e. humans and animals) is dependent on the age and health status of the host, and the frequency of contacts between the host and the environment, and/or between humans and animals (Martinez and Baquero, 2009, Mathew *et al.*, 2007). Host stressors such as weaning have been described as influencing the prevalence of AMR as they might have an impact on the gut environment, either by enhancing uptake

of resistance genes by bacteria or by favouring the survival of resistant strains (Mathew *et al.*, 2007). Finally, a number of stress conditions in urban areas, especially those in LMICs, have been related to the selection or maintenance of AMR genes in potentially pathogenic bacteria (Rosas *et al.*, 2011). Conditions as apparently unrelated to antimicrobials as air pollution might foster the resistance of airborne bacteria to antimicrobials (Jiménez-Arribas *et al.*, 2001).

# Risks of agricultural antimicrobial usage, other than AMR selection

Antimicrobial usage of any kind implies a risk for AMR selection and spread. We currently lack adequate risk-assessment models for exploring the impact of agricultural AMU, simply because we have a poor understanding of the complex processes that lead to the emergence and spread of AMR. Many such mechanisms, e.g. mutations and horizontal transfer between distantly-related bacteria, occur at very low rates, often below our detection capabilities. However, as bacterial populations are enormous and many of them still unknown (we have been able to culture less than 10 percent of the species of the human microbiota, and less than 1 percent of the soil microbiota), most of these very rare phenomena at individual organism level must be occurring frequently at population level. In addition, there are other unpredictable implications of AMU in livestock. Statutorily acceptable levels of oxytetracycline and erythromycin in meat, following use in food-producing animals, can disrupt the fermentation process of sausages, as they are able to inhibit microbial starter cultures, but may allow the growth of pathogens such as S. typhimurium and Escherichia coli O157:H7 (Kjeldgaard et al., 2012).

This shows that the use of antimicrobials in food-producing animals may lead to food-related outbreaks through unexpected pathways.

#### AMR EMERGENCE AND AMU WITHIN DIFFERENT ANIMAL PRODUCTION SYSTEMS

#### Aquaculture

Antimicrobials are widely used in aquaculture for therapeutic, metaphylactic and prophylactic purposes. AMR in aquaculture can occur through direct exposure to antimicrobials delivered as group therapy to fish, or through livestock and human effluents containing resistant bacteria, resistance genes and antimicrobial residues. These will then exert selection pressure on gut microbiota of fish and on other bacteria in the aquatic environment (FAO/OIE/WHO, 2006). The extent and persistence of antimicrobial residues in these production systems is currently unknown, but they are likely to be greatly diluted in the environment.

The presence of antimicrobial residues in sea sediment could be due to constant exposure of fish to medicated feed and antimicrobial group treatments (Muziasari *et al.*, 2014). It is worth noting that no antimicrobial agents have ever been developed solely for fish or shellfish therapy, in part due to the difficult and expensive registration process for antimicrobial drugs (Scarano *et al.*, 2014, Rodgers and Furones, 2009). Therefore, the substances widely used in aquaculture are the same as those licensed for therapy and prophylaxis of infectious diseases in humans and livestock.

These include commonly used drugs (Capita and Alonso-Calleja, 2013, FAO/OIE/WHO, 2006), including substances currently deemed as critically important in human medicine (Table 5).

Resistance determinants to commonly used antimicrobials such as fluoroquinolones, tetracyclines and florfenicol have been detected in aquatic bacteria, some of which are also human pathogens such as *Escherichia coli* (Miranda *et al.*, 2013). Resistance genes and bacteria resistant to sulphonamides and trimethoprim have also been isolated from the sediment under aquaculture farms in the Baltic Sea and

TABLE 5. Antimicrobia	agents and classe	es used in aquacult	ure and their importance
in human medicine			

Antimicrobial group	Antimicrobial substance	Route of administration	Importance to human medicine
Aminopenicillins	Amoxicillin	Oral	Critically important
	Ampicillin	Oral	Critically important
Amphenicols	Chloramphenicol**	Oral/Bath/Injection	Highly important
	Florfenicol*	Oral	Highly Important
Macrolides	Erythromycin	Oral/Bath/Injection	Critically important
Aminoglycosides	Streptomycin	Bath	Critically important
	Neomycin	Bath	Critically important
Nitrofurans	Furazolidone	Oral/Bath	Important
	Nitrofurantoin**	Oral	Important
Fluoroquinolones	Oxolinic acid	Oral	Critically important
	Enrofloxacin*	Oral/Bath	Critically important
	Flumequine	Oral	Critically important
Tetracyclines	Oxytetracycline	Oral/Bath/Injection	Highly important
	Chlortetracycline	Oral/Bath/Injection	Highly important
	Tetracycline	Oral/Bath/Injection	Highly important
Sulphonamides	Sulphonamides	Oral	Highly important

\* Licensed only for veterinary use.

\*\* Banned for use in commercial aquaculture in most fish-exporting countries since 2002.

Critically Important for human medicine are those antimicrobials which meet both Criterion 1 and Criterion 2 (see below).

Highly Important are those antimicrobials which meet either Criterion 1 or Criterion 2.

Important are those antimicrobials which meet neither Criterion 1 nor Criterion 2.

Criterion 1. An antimicrobial agent that is the sole, or one of limited available therapies, to treat serious human disease.

Criterion 2. An antimicrobial agent used to treat diseases caused by either: a) organisms that may be transmitted to humans from

non human sources or, b) human diseases causes by organisms that may acquire resistance genes from non human sources (WHO 2012).

persisted in the environment for at least 6 years, however, there was no evidence of spread to nearby aquatic areas (Muziasari *et al.*, 2014).

Nonetheless, these kinds of sediments could act as reservoirs of resistance genes and bacteria in local fish farms and in humans via food distribution (FAO/OIE/WHO, 2006). Most marine bacteria cannot yet be cultured (Suzuki *et al.*, 2013), therefore it is possible, although speculative, that there may be as yet undetected reservoirs of resistance in the aquatic environment.

#### Land-based intensive systems

The intensification of livestock production (i.e. large numbers of animals kept at high density and usually indoors) has been associated with the use of antimicrobials as prophylaxis against infectious disease, often for prolonged periods

and for large populations of animals. Pro- and metaphylactic use of antimicrobials at different stages of livestock production can also have an impact on the emergence of resistance (Salyers, 2001). In Poland, higher levels of resistance have been reported in *E. coli* isolates in piglets. This contrasted with the predominant *E. coli* isolates with susceptible pheno- and genotypes reported in sows in the same study (Mazurek *et al.*, 2013). It was associated with the prophylactic use of antimicrobials in younger animals to prevent and contain the spread of respiratory and gastrointestinal infectious diseases (Mazurek *et al.*, 2013).

Animals bred for intensive production also tend to have reduced variability in their microbiota and a similar susceptibility to colonization with particular bacterial species (Schokker *et al.*, 2014). This, coupled with the close proximity of animals in such systems, could result in amplification of any resistant population(s) of bacteria, which may outcompete other bacterial populations. Again, partially due to the factors above, an intensive system run with poor biosecurity and herd/flock health may run a high risk of being colonized by pathogenic strains of bacteria (Zhu *et al.*, 2013).

Should poor animal health within such situations also necessitate the increased use of antimicrobials, this is likely to support the development of AMR (FAO, 2013b). Given ever-growing global demand for livestock products, it is expected that intensive production will continue to expand in the future. It may be hypothesized, however, that intensive systems with high biosecurity may, in fact, reduce requirements for AMU and thus reduce the risk of AMR emergence. Intensive farms may also be able to take practical steps to mitigate AMR transfer into and out of the system. But as the authors could find little evidence to substantiate these theories in the literature, further research is warranted.

It is important to note that, while hypotheses can be made about the effect of agricultural practices on the emergence of AMR in food animals, biological factors need to be considered in relation to the potential for transmission of resistance to human bacterial populations. A systematic review by Lazarus *et al.* (2015) found that poultry appeared to be a more likely source for a proportion of human ESCREC infections than other food-producing animals (Lazarus *et al.*, 2015).

Genomic data "have demonstrated that human extraintestinal pathogenic *E. coli* and avian pathogenic *E. coli* share numerous virulence factors" (Johnson *et al.*, 2007), and "resistant strains that are able to infect avian sources are also more likely to possess the cellular machinery required to infect humans" (Lazarus *et al.*, 2015). Such findings are relevant from a public health perspective since the fractional proportion of poultry products consumed globally currently outstretches any other protein source, and is projected to continue to do so (due both to increasing global demand and the efficiency of poultry feed conversion, which surpasses that of other livestock) (FAO, 2013a).

#### Land-based extensive systems

Extensive livestock farming systems, typically characterized by low inputs generating low outputs (the converse of intensive systems) may potentially require lower inputs of antimicrobials, and thus by default, result in lower rates of AMR emergence.

However, by comparison with intensive systems, extensive systems require higher animal numbers for the same output. The Indian smallholder dairy subsector is one example (FAO, 2013b). Extensive systems involving free-roaming animals in large numbers may exhibit high commensal and pathogenic bacterial transmission rates and exposure to multiple bacterial species (including environmental species such as soil bacteria) which may not be as prevalent in intensive systems (FAO, 2013b). These factors may result in promoting the generation and transmission of AMR genetic material and bacterial populations.

#### **Organic systems**

Organic production systems in different countries can vary in the level of antimicrobial therapies allowed. In Europe, restrictions exist in the number of therapeutic courses allowed and the duration of withdrawal periods (Anon., 2007). Pro- and metaphylactic use of antimicrobials is prohibited. Alternative therapeutic plans are encouraged, and use of antimicrobials is only permitted when necessary.

Use of vaccines for disease prevention is permitted and encouraged (Anon., 2007, Mazurek *et al.*, 2013). Recent studies comparing AMR levels in livestock reared in organic versus conventional production systems showed higher concentrations in the latter (Mazurek *et al.*, 2013, Cui *et al.*, 2005, Holtcamp, 2011). In Poland, Mazurek *et al.* (2013) reported that resistant *E. coli* isolates were mainly observed in cows raised in barns in conventional farms rather than in cows having access to pasture and raised organically, with lower exposure to antimicrobials (Mazurek *et al.*, 2013). In another study in the United States, MDR *Campylobacter* spp. strains were detected in both antimicrobial-free and conventional pig farms. This is likely due to environmental reservoirs that could be a source of resistance genes and resistant bacteria (Quintana-Hayashi and Thakur, 2012).

The authors do suggest, however, that in a poorly managed organic system, the drive to reduce AMU may lead to the administration of doses of antimicrobials below the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC), leading to an increased selection pressure for AMR bacteria and/or recurrent infections or extensive onward transmission, requiring repeat treatment of single or multiple animals and instigating selection pressure for AMR.

In addition, in organic systems where livestock production is integrated with an extensive and/or a free-range or outdoor farming model, access to AMR genes or bacterial populations via soil bacteria and effluent may result in a propensity for organic/extensively-produced livestock to harbour AMR comparable with conventionally produced or indoor animals. One study conducted on pigs, which was the first to document the isolation of ciprofloxacin-resistant Campylobacter coli in the United States, is a case in point (Gebreyes et al., 2005). More comparative research is required on this topic, though it may be suggested that high biosecurity, high herd/ flock health and indoor, organic systems may potentially induce and harbour relatively less AMR than others. Despite this, it should be noted that biocide treatment of organically-produced animal feed and human foods may still potentially induce AMR in the food chain. The indiscriminate use of biocides should therefore be discouraged (Davin-Regli and Pagès, 2012, Fernández Fuentes et al., 2014).

# Risk factors for the emergence of AMR in agriculture at national and international level

It is important to highlight the fact that the extent and patterns of AMU in agriculture and other industries are likely to vary considerably between and within countries, due to the influence of various factors. These may include, but are not limited to:

- legislative framework and governance;
- financial status and stability;
- degree of international imports and exports;
- human resources: population size, education and expertise;
- culture;
- structure and organization of the various agricultural production systems in use nationally.

In many countries, particularly LMICs, there have been dramatic changes in agricultural systems in recent years, driven by both increasing local demand and new and emerging trade opportunities (HBF, 2014, Rushton, 2010, FAO, 2013a, FAO, 2013b, Otte et al., 2007). A growing global population and increasing wealth in emerging economies, for example in China and India (O'Neill, 2001), has stimulated demand for animal protein and the development of global value chains (Otte et al., 2007). For example, new export opportunities for sub-Saharan Africa (USDA, 2014) have led to increased production and intensification of agricultural systems in the region, with most recent figures showing 2.5 percent annual growth in total cereal production over the last decade, total meat production doubling in the last 20 years, and egg and milk production also expanding at rapid and sustained annual rates (FAOSTAT, 2014). Globally, poultry production has been growing this century at around 3 percent per year and seems set to continue to grow as global diets and consumption patterns shift (FAO, 2013a). Fish production by aquaculture has been rising over the last 20 years, from 13 percent of total world fish supply





Source: Adapted from FAO, 2013a

in 1990 to 40 percent in 2010 (FAO, 2013a). The growth of aquaculture has been most significant in Asia, especially China, and also in Latin America and Africa as shown in Figure 6. Aquaculture is a fast-expanding agricultural sector in many LMICs, and the unregulated use of antimicrobials in many of these countries poses serious risks of AMR developing and spreading at local and global level – the latter through international trade (Heuer *et al.*, 2009). However, the negative impact of detection of residues in seafood in international trade has led to improved practices and certification of aquaculture

by national regulatory bodies and international certifying agencies.

Changes to agricultural systems as a result of intensification involve changes in livestock/fish numbers, feed type and quantity used, husbandry methods, and animal density. All of these factors can influence disease dynamics (Otte *et al.*, 2007), which in turn may drive changes in AMU. The extent of the impact on AMU depends on the attitude of veterinary practitioners and farmers towards use of antimicrobials within particular legislative and governance frameworks, and alternative methods for maximizing animal productivity.

### MECHANISMS OF SPREAD OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE BETWEEN ANIMALS AND HUMANS

#### LOCAL AND GLOBAL MECHANISMS OF SPREAD

Both pathogenic and non-pathogenic resistant bacteria can be transmitted from livestock to humans via food consumption, or via direct contact with animals or their waste in the environment (Marshall and Levy, 2011). Fomites can also play an important role in the local and wider spread of resistant bacteria. In Denmark, farm-to-farm spread of multidrug-resistant *Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium* DT204 has been closely studied, and shared farm equipment (e.g. machinery) was identified as an important route (Aarestrup, 2006).

Any mechanism that helps spread bacteria has the potential to transfer resistant bacteria. Resistance may also be conferred by the exchange of genetic elements between bacteria of the same or different strains or species, and such transfer can occur in any environment where resistant bacteria have the opportunity to mix with a susceptible bacterial population, such as in the human or animal gut, in slurry spread on agricultural soil, or in aquatic environments (Woolridge, 2012, Aarestrup, 2006, Baguero et al., 2008). An example of a framework in which resistance genes could spread from poultry production to humans is shown in Figure 7. If resistance develops in environmental bacteria, this can create an animal or human health problem when such bacteria contaminate water, food crops or animal feed, introducing the opportunity for bacterial mixing with commensal or pathogenic species in the animal or human gut (Aarestrup, 2006, Finley et al., 2013, Marti et al., 2013).

# Risk pathways for the spread of AMR via the environment

Many antimicrobial preparations used for livestock are given orally so that antimicrobial residues excreted in animal faeces have the potential to exert selection pressure on bacterial populations in soil or water (Woolridge, 2012, AAM, 2009), as shown in Figure 5. However, evidence is scarce as to how important this mechanism is in transferring resistance (Hong et al., 2011, McEwen, 2006, Novo et al., 2013, Woolhouse et al. 2015), and different antimicrobials have different fates in the environment (Kumar et al., 2005, Kemper, 2008, AAM, 2009). It must be considered that residues resulting from human treatment with antimicrobials or from pharmaceutical manufacturing can also exert selection pressure on environmental bacteria (Igbinosa et al., 2011, Baquero et al., 2008, Finley et al., 2013, Wellington et al., 2013, Novo et al., 2013). Indeed, effluent from drug manufacturing has been found to contain extremely high concentrations of antimicrobial residues, as previously reported in countries with large pharmaceutical industries such as India (Larsson et al., 2007, Sim et al., 2011, Mutiyar and Mittal, 2014, O'Neill, 2015).

Water, including that treated for human consumption, is an important vehicle for the spread of AMR. Water is not only directly consumed by humans and animals, but is used for irrigation of crops which are then consumed by humans or used as animal feed (Finley *et al.*, 2013) (Figure 5). Water can spread antimicrobial residues, resistant bacteria and resistance genes far and wide through the flow of natural water bodies and anthropogenic influenc-




Source: Davis et al., 2011

es such as irrigation. This is a significant concern in LMICs, where water has been shown to be a major route for transmission of pathogenic bacteria to humans (Wellington *et al.*, 2013). Recreational water use has also been linked to exposure to AMR bacteria (Leonard *et al.*, 2015).

It has recently been found that antimicrobial residues, AMR genes and bacteria can spread for some distance via airborne particulate matter from large cattle feedlots in semi-arid areas of the United States (McEachran *et al.*, 2015). These areas are prone to soil scouring, dust formation and strong winds. Communities living nearby are therefore exposed to antimicrobial residues, AMR bacteria and genes via direct inhalation of contaminated dust or deposition of particulate matter onto skin, food or water (McEachran *et al.*, 2015).

In different environments, the relative importance of livestock sources of antimicrobial residues and AMR genes versus human sources will vary and the overall contribution of livestock waste to such environmental transmission pathways still remains unclear (AAM, 2009, Wellington et al., 2013, Marti et al., 2013). There are considerable gaps in current knowledge, in part because environmental sites such as flowing watercourses are difficult to study due to their dynamic nature and of water's diluting effect (Woolridge, 2012). Human sources of contamination in the environment make it difficult to ascertain the contribution of livestock production to the environmental spread of AMR. While several studies from various regions have linked the presence of resistance in the environment with contamination by waste from livestock or aquaculture

(effluent, wastewater, or manure), such transmission pathways are necessarily inferred rather than proven (Woolridge, 2012, Binh *et al.*, 2007, Acar and Moulin, 2006, Zhao *et al.*, 2010, Hong *et al.*, 2011, Heuer *et al.*, 2002, Heuer and Smalla, 2007, Quintana-Hayashi and Thakur, 2012, Li *et al.*, 2012).

According to a recent review by Luby et al. (2016), the vast majority of environmental bacteria cannot be cultured using current methods. However, novel molecular techniques may be able to help fill these knowledge gaps. Metagenomics (the study of genetic material recovered from microbial communities) and whole genome sequencing (WGS) are emerging techniques which can provide more detailed characterization of environmental microbiomes and therefore greater insight into the role of the environment as a reservoir of AMR (Penders et al., 2013, Schmieder and Edwards, 2012). AMR genes and other targets of interest such as pathogenicity islands or transposons can be identified from sequencing results, and quantified using publicly available online databases such as the Comprehensive Antibiotic Resistance Database project (CARD) (McArthur et al., 2013), although databases are still not yet well-populated (Luby et al., 2016). One advantage is that the presence of AMR genes can be viewed within the broader context of the whole environmental microbiome - for example analysis of HGT markers can provide information on how AMR may have spread into an environment (Luby et al. 2016). Metagenomics has also been used to assess the efficiency of sewage treatment in removing AMR genes (Yang et al., 2014). Several high-income countries are currently adopting and developing metagenomics and WGS techniques to support their surveillance efforts, particularly in the monitoring and detection of bacterial strains relevant to public health, and the carriage and diversity of resistance genes within these. WGS allows the characterization of the full resistance genotype while WGS applied to RNA allows investigation of expression of resistance genes in bacterial isolates

(Chan, 2016). There is still room for improvement of the methodologies, as well as a need for better bioinformatics to combine and analyse the sequence data (Clausen *et al.*, 2016). Molecular techniques are becoming more affordable for routine use in high-income countries, but the cost is still prohibitive for most LMICs.

# Risk pathways for the spread of AMR via food distribution

As a consequence of the inherent challenges associated with data collection on environmental spread, food-borne transmission often becomes the primary focus for studies of livestock-to-human spread of AMR (Woolridge, 2012). Meat contamination is undoubtedly easier to study, so there is some bias in favour of researching this transmission route. As a result, there is a considerable body of evidence describing the food distribution network as a risk pathway for transmission and spread from animals to humans. In Kenya, E. coli isolates from retail beef samples were found to be resistant to ampicillin (31 percent), tetracycline (20 percent) and nalidixic acid and ceftazidime (4 percent), with 27 percent showing multidrug resistance (Kariuki et al., 2013). In the United States, the latest report on contamination of retail meats highlights cephalosporin resistance levels being above 2002 levels, while AMR levels in Salmonella from retail chicken were reported at 20 percent (a reduction from 38 percent in 2009 and 28 percent in 2012) (NARMS, 2013). MDR Salmonella was detected in all retail meat sources, although the proportion of MDR isolates declined between 2011 and 2013. Ceftriaxone resistance in E. coli isolates from retail chicken increased from 8 percent in 2002 to 13 percent in 2011.

Any food contaminated with resistant bacteria provides a direct route for human colonization (Hong *et al.*, 2011, Marti *et al.*, 2013). Capita and Alonso-Calleja (2013) assert that, in quantitative terms, transmission of AMR via food is likely to be the most important known pathway from livestock to humans (although it should be recognised that transmission via the environment - to which humans are continually exposed - is still poorly understood and has not yet been quantified). Trade in food products and human travel could have significant roles in the spread of AMR, both locally and globally. In a globalized world, people and products are transported around the earth in a matter of days, and AMR bacteria and resistance genes are disseminated with them. This has been demonstrated in a number of studies of imported meat, fish and dairy products (Ozawa et al., 2002, Skov et al., 2007, Wilson, 2003, Noor Uddin et al., 2013, Zhao et al., 2003, Warren et al., 2008, Hong et al., 2011). Higher incomes in the emerging economies, the changing demands of consumers, and improvements in transportation technology mean that perishable foods, including animal-derived products, are now more easily shipped around the world than ever before (Aarestrup, 2006). As a consequence, strains of resistant bacteria can quickly reach areas where they had previously been uncommon or unknown (Okeke et al., 2005). The global trade in food products is expected to keep increasing in future, both in terms of volume and geographical coverage.

Despite convincing evidence for the existence of potentially important risk pathways for food-borne transmission of AMR, direct evidence for AMR in humans resulting from consumption of food products is very limited. This may be in part because hygiene procedures during meat processing can be very effective at removing bacteria. In a study of cattle from three beef feedlots in Nebraska, Schmidt et al. (2015) detected third-generation cephalosporin and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole-resistant E. coli on 100 percent of hides but only 0.5 percent of carcasses and 0 percent of retail meat from the same animals. According to Wielinga et al. (2013), concern about the use of avoparcin as an AGP arose in Denmark during the 1990s due to some evidence of a link to vancomycin resistance in humans. Use of vancomycin in European hospitals was low, but levels of resistance in humans were high. Studies involving vegetarians and non-vegetarians showed a prevalence of about 20 percent vancomycin-resistant enterococci (VRE) among meat eaters while none were detected in vegetarians. There are still considerable knowledge gaps around the risk of AMR emergence in humans associated with the consumption of animal-derived foods, and further research is urgently required.

The effect of low concentrations of antimicrobial residues on the human gut microbiome has also still to be elucidated. The Codex Committee on Residues of Veterinary Drugs in Foods (CCRVDF) recommends Maximum Residue Limits (MRLs) for veterinary drugs in foods. The Codex MRL is the maximum concentration of residue recommended as legally permissible or recognized as acceptable in or on a food. It is based on "the type and amount of residue considered to be without any toxicological hazard for human health as expressed by the Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) [...] It also takes into account other relevant public health risks as well as food technological aspects [...] Furthermore, the MRL may be reduced to be consistent with good practices in the use of veterinary drugs and to the extent that practical analytical methods are available" (Codex Alimentarius, 2015a).

A number of studies in Africa have reported unacceptably high antimicrobial residues in poultry meats (Dipeolu and Alonge 2002, Muriuki *et al.*, 2001). A cross-sectional study of retail pork in suburban and urban districts in Hanoi, Vietnam, found that 5.5 percent of all meat samples from retail shops contained tetracycline residues (Duong *et al.*, 2006). In China, 7.7 percent of aquatic food products were found with levels of residues that were unacceptable for human consumption (Hao *et al.*, 2015). Recently, emerging evidence suggests that even very low concentrations of antimicrobial residues in foods could potentially alter the AMR characteristics of human intestinal bacteria. This **FIGURE 8.** Potential transmission pathways of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria, resistance genes and antimicrobial residues, at the agriculture-human-environment-wildlife interface



Source: Adapted from Wellington et al., 2013

is, however, a complex and novel field of research, and there are still few studies addressing this important issue (Cerniglia *et al.*, 2016). The amount of residues available to bacteria in the human gut is greatly affected by dose, the extent of binding to gut contents, and metabolism (Cerniglia *et al.*, 2016). It should be noted that while there are international guidelines for MRLs in food (WHO, 2008, Codex Alimentarius, 2015b), there are no water quality guidelines regarding the presence of resistant bacteria or antimicrobial residues in fresh water used for human and animal consumption or crop irrigation.

The application of manure to crops intended for human consumption is a possible pathway for the spread of AMR from animals to humans (Kumar *et al.*, 2015, Tang *et al.*, 2015). However, Marti *et al.* (2013) found that resistant bacteria on vegetables grown for human consumption were ubiquitous regardless of farming system or geographical location, thought to be due to the naturally-occurring and ancient presence of AMR in soil bacteria. Furthermore, manuring the soil did not increase the prevalence of resistant bacteria on vegetables sold for consumption. Higher levels were detected when vegetables were harvested from soil where manure was still present, indicating that the period between application and harvesting could be optimized and is a critical control point.

#### **Diverse opportunities for spread**

Pathways of environmental and food-borne spread of AMR are complex and varied. Figure 8 illustrates the diversity of interactions at the interface between agriculture, humans, the environment and wildlife through which the spread of AMR bacteria, resistance genes, or antimicrobial residues can potentially occur. The relative importance of each pathway in terms of risk is not demonstrated in Figure 8 due to the fact that many of these are still ambiguous, based on current knowledge.

The vast majority of AMR spread is not monitored or studied and thus the importance of transmission pathways and the magnitude of spread is largely unknown. For example, resistance to synthetic and semi-synthetic antimicrobials has been recently detected in faecal samples from monkeys, tapirs and felids in wild habitats of southern Mexico, the source(s) and transmission pathways of which are as yet unknown (Cristobal-Azkarate *et al.*, 2014). As 70 percent of emerging zoonotic diseases originate in wildlife (Jones *et al.*, 2008), the presence in wildlife of resistance to critically important antimicrobials is a significant public health concern.

Clearly, there are diverse opportunities for environmental spread of AMR as well as the perhaps more straightforward risk pathways of food distribution. It should also be noted that some of the pathways shown in Figure 8 can operate at global as well as local level, and that many pathways operate in multiple directions. For example, there are pathways from humans to food animals as well as vice versa, creating complex feedback loops.

## RELEVANCE AND INFLUENCE OF ANIMAL PRODUCTION ON THE SPREAD OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE

#### International trade

Recent changes in the global patterns of trade in agricultural products have influenced the patterns of spread of bacteria and therefore the spread of AMR around the world (Finley et al., 2013, Aarestrup, 2006). Major exporting countries are at risk of increased resistance acquisition due to the pressure to intensify agriculture to produce greater yields for export. On the other hand, international trade demands could potentially foster more prudent use of antimicrobials in exporting countries. For example, good aquaculture practice certifications have been put in place in several LMICs as a result of import rejections in international markets due to detection of antimicrobial residues (FAO, 2012, FAO, 2011). Emerging economies rapidly opening up significant new markets become substantial importers of agricultural products and potentially import new bacteria with resistance genes selected for by the antimicrobials used in the country of export.

Global trade patterns are shifting due to increased demand and investments in agriculture. Africa as a whole is a net importer of meat and dairy products, while Latin America is a significant exporter of meat products, mostly from Brazil. Asia overall still imports considerably more meat and milk than it exports, however China is a now major exporter of meat products and fish while also importing a considerable amount of meat, fish and dairy products. Thailand and India are major exporters, while Vietnam is a significant importer of meat products. Both Thailand and Vietnam export a considerable amount of fish. Europe as a whole is a major importer and exporter of livestock products, while Australia and New Zealand are net exporters of meat, fish and dairy products (FAO, 2013a, FAO, 2014). The emerging economies of Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa (BRICS) are likely to contribute to changing global trade patterns. In emerging economies, there is likely to be an increase in AMU to secure productivity and ensure animal health in order to keep pace with the rapid expansion into new global markets. There is thus an opportunity for increasing spread of AMR around the world in terms of both prevalence of AMR and diversity of resistance genes.

Aside from the potential global spread of AMR via trade in food products, live animals are also traded on an international scale for breeding and slaughter purposes, and this may also represent an important transmission pathway. While the numbers of animals moved around the globe may not compare to the vast scale of the trade in food products, live animals are carrying large amounts of bacteria in their intestinal tract, which are continually mixing, exchanging genetic material and being excreted. In comparison with the amount of bacteria found on the surface of traded meat products, this animal microbiome represents a considerably higher contamination risk. Breeding animals are usually introduced to importing countries at the top of a breeding pyramid and thus have the potential to spread AMR to a large number of other farms (Aarestrup, 2006). While breeding animals are generally subjected to more rigorous health checks than live animals traded for slaughter, it is not known whether such checks routinely include testing for AMR.

Animal feed is also traded around the globe, and *Salmonella* spp. has often been detected in imported feed, especially where it is produced in LMICs or contains animal proteins (Hsieh *et al.*, 2014, Aarestrup, 2006). A significant amount of water from shrimp farms is shipped along with shrimp in frozen blocks, transported from farms directly to international consumers. This water can contain antimicrobial residues and AMR bacteria (Carvalho *et al.*, 2013, Reboucas *et al.*, 2011, Zhang *et al.*, 2011, Holmström *et al.*, 2003, Le and Munekage, 2004), which may then come into contact with kitchen surfaces, other foodstuffs, and consumers themselves, enabling the global spread of bacteria and resistance genes.

It is important to note that the legislative environment in each country – along with the strength of institutions to achieve widespread compliance – will influence the risk of emergence and spread of AMR within exporting countries and thereby influence the risk of international spread (FAO, 2014).

# Influence of different types of agricultural systems on AMR spread

The type of agricultural system and basic infrastructure and services also influences the risk of animal-human-environmental transmission of pathogens at a more localized level, and these factors vary widely from country to country (FAO, 2013b).

Intensive production systems will mean frequent, localized contact between livestock and humans involved with production or living in the area (Rushton, 2010) – and increased risk for transfer of AMR genes and resistant bacteria between animals, humans and the environment (Van Boeckel et al., 2015, Wardyn et al., 2015). Intensive livestock systems produce large quantities of waste, much of which is disposed of on nearby land, potentially increasing the risk of transfer of AMR genes to bacteria in the environment and to pathogenic or commensal bacteria in wildlife (Otte et al., 2007, Hong et al., 2011). Many large-scale intensive systems import animal feed and breeding stock on a global scale (Rushton, 2010), potentially introducing novel strains of pathogenic and non-pathogenic resistant bacteria, which can then mix with the existing microbial communities in the intensive farm. Animal waste from these systems can also spread these resistant bacteria and resistance genes locally to farm workers, who then take them into their community (Wardyn *et al.*, 2015), and via manure and slurry spreading to the surrounding environment. In low-income settings, many workers on intensive farms are also smallholder farmers themselves, while poultry from intensive systems are frequently sold at live bird markets (Rushton, 2010). This opens up opportunities for spread of AMR from intensive systems into local communities. In the future, if production systems across the world continue to move towards intensification, the environmental spread of AMR may become a more important route than is currently perceived (Aarestrup, 2006). Animal products from intensive farms, and local crops grown using their manure, are likely to be destined for export or wide domestic distribution.

Smallholder systems also have inherent risk pathways for the spread of AMR, but of a different nature. AMU by smallholders is likely to be less than in larger, more intensive farms, but it is also likely to be less controlled. Drugs may not be guality-assured, dosages may not be optimized and in some systems antimicrobials are more likely to be used without veterinary supervision (Katakweba et al., 2012). In intensive farming, inputs and outputs are closely managed to maximize gain and little is avoidably wasted. The cost of antimicrobial treatment is offset against gains in animal health and the growth rate of animals. In smallholder systems, antimicrobials may be used less efficiently (Suriyasathaporn et al., 2012), which may result in increased excretion of antimicrobial residues into the environment. Sub-optimal doses or inappropriate drugs can drive selection for resistant bacteria within the animal gut, leading to the increased presence of resistant bacteria in livestock waste. In smallholder systems, animals are commonly in frequent and close contact with humans and wildlife, and often have freedom to roam and graze among animals from neighbouring farms or among human dwellings. AMR can therefore spread between farms and from livestock to humans. Wildlife grazing on shared land may be at increased risk of colonization with resistant bacteria via animal faeces. If resistant bacteria are transferred to humans within these systems, they can spread readily and become endemic within the local community. The food distribution risk from smallholder systems in LMICs is considerable as animals may be slaughtered and butchered outside of abattoirs and without any formalized food-safety controls. However, meat and other animal products are typically consumed locally, often by the owners of the livestock themselves, so that the spread of AMR may remain limited to local communities. Some smallholders may sell produce at local markets, and this provides potential for more widespread dispersal. Inadequacies in biosecurity controls at live animal markets in LMICs can mean that bacteria, and therefore AMR, are transferred easily between animals and humans within the market environment (Cardona et al., 2009). Compared with intensive systems, the global biomass of animals raised in smallholder systems is likely to be far less and therefore the volumes of antimicrobial residues and resistant bacteria excreted are also likely to be lower, meaning that there is arguably less transmission into the environment overall from these systems. However, smallholder systems are numerous and ubiquitous in all countries and most ecological zones, and therefore provide the potential for resistant bacteria to spread into diverse environments. In agro-ecological systems, where the environment may historically have had low exposure to AMR, the potential transfer of AMR into the environment is of particular concern.

Medium-sized farms present a different set of risk pathways. They are typically small businesses or family-run operations, and contribute considerably to global food security. AMU is likely to be less closely monitored and regulated than in intensive systems, and antimicrobials may therefore be used in a less controlled way. Biosecurity controls, especially in pig and poultry farms, are likely to be much less strictly applied than in intensive systems. Although the volume of waste produced from these systems is much lower than from intensive systems,

35

waste disposal is likely to be less tightly regulated so that manure and slurry may be disposed of inappropriately (such as in nearby watercourses), or inadequately treated before disposal. Medium-sized farms are more likely than smallholder farms to sell animal products across large distances, perhaps through a marketing and distribution network, and may export some of their produce internationally. The intrinsic risk of AMR emergence in these systems, coupled with the potential for wide distribution, means that these systems are of concern in terms of their ability to spread AMR.

In LMICs, there are likely to be few or no waste-treatment facilities. Adelowo *et al.* (2014) explain that farming systems in Nigeria often dispose of waste by dumping, meaning that the local environment and freshwater supply can become contaminated with resistant bacteria and antimicrobial residues. Similarly, contamination of the environment with human sewage can also be a major factor in spreading AMR bacteria and genes to both humans and animals. The pathways of AMR transfer in such systems are likely to be complex and multi-directional, involving feedback loops between humans and animals.

Aquaculture in LMICs often features an integrated system which uses domestic farm and poultry waste as fish feed (Suzuki and Hoa, 2012). Antimicrobial residues or resistant bacteria from animal husbandry are therefore continuously introduced into aquatic systems and may contribute to a reservoir of resistance genes in fish farms, as has been found in Tanzania and Pakistan (Shah et al., 2012). Farmed fish are an important global food source, and in China, the world's largest producer of farmed fish, the industrialization of production is leading to increasing use of antimicrobials. Furthermore, resistance to the older antimicrobials such as tetracycline has led to increasing usage of guinolones, which are critical in human medicine. High levels of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance (PMQR) genes have been found in aq-

uaculture systems in China, higher than in swine, poultry or human isolates (Jiang et al., 2012). The selection pressure of large quantities of antimicrobial residues in water can lead to the spread of resistance among aquatic bacteria. Novo et al. (2013) found that tetracycline residues in urban wastewater were significantly associated with higher prevalence of resistance, although not just resistance to tetracycline. This highlights the complexity and gaps in our knowledge concerning the mechanisms of transmission within aquatic environments. Muziasari et al. (2014) found few AMR genes in the environmental sediments below Baltic Sea fish farms, where there was no influence from human or agricultural systems, concluding that selection pressure in this environment was minimal. The impact of aquaculture practices on the spread of resistance in aquatic systems remains largely unknown, however, and evidence-gathering is complicated by a variety of factors. For example, studies in both China and Egypt have also found ESBL genes in aquaculture systems which are attributed to pollution of these systems with human sewage (Jiang et al., 2012, Ishida et al., 2010).

We need to know much more about the impact, in different types of agricultural production systems, of the use of antimicrobials on the spread of AMR into the environment (Rushton *et al.*, 2014), and in particular we lack data from LMICs (Adelowo *et al.*, 2014).

### FURTHER SPREAD OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE: CAN IT BE STOPPED?

The consequences of the recent dramatic global changes in food consumption, international trade, agricultural production systems, and human travel in terms of AMR spread and circulation are as yet scarcely known. The recent emergence and spread of colistin resistance in animals, food and humans at international level reflects this (Figures 2 and 3). If the selection pressure imposed by the use of antimicrobials was completely removed this would not necessarily stop the circulation of AMR. This is an "easy to get and hard to lose" problem according to Salyers et al. (1997), because resistance is very difficult to reverse due to the ability of genetic transfer elements to adapt to new hosts and new environments (Aminov and Mackie, 2007). Österblad et al. (2001) explain that restrictions on AMU are still extremely useful, however, because the prevalence of resistance found in wild animals is still low in areas where the use of antimicrobials in agriculture has historically been low. This indicates that the release of AMR genes into the environment may be an important point for intervention in controlling the spread of AMR (Aminov and Mackie, 2007).

Antimicrobial residues in the environment are not monitored in the same way as are other hazardous substances, e.g. the Dangerous Substances Directive 2006/11/EC (European Commission, 2006) in the European Union. Thus their concentration in the environment is likely to be underestimated or unrecognized. Antimicrobials are often large and complex molecules which biodegrade and behave differently to the archetype chemicals typically used in predictive models of environmental fate (Berkner et al., 2014). Some antimicrobials are not readily biodegradable and may persist at high concentrations for long periods so that future development of more biodegradable antimicrobials might help to reduce the risk of environmental spread and circulation (Wellington et al., 2013).

There is also a need for novel strategies of water quality improvement (Lupo *et al.*, 2012). A considerable amount of research has been conducted into the improvement of waste water treatment due to concerns over pharmaceuticals with undesirable effects on wildlife, such as contraceptives or painkillers. Improving the ability of waste water treatment plants to remove these pollutants would also help to lower environmental concentrations of antimicrobials with similar molecular size, particularly in aquatic environments. Switzerland is one country that has already adopted such strategies (Berkner *et al.*, 2014).

While the environmental proliferation of AMR is becoming increasingly recognized as an important control point, efforts to mitigate AMR spread have largely focused on food distribution until now, due to the more significant knowledge base regarding risk pathways and the fact that controls are easier to implement in food distribution systems. Strategies that minimize the risk of hazardous food-borne bacteria spreading, such as hygiene measures during slaughter and meat processing, and following "Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point" (HACCP) protocols, help to reduce such risk (Schmidt et al., 2015, WHO, 2014b). Hsieh et al. (2014) showed that the presence of Salmonella spp. in animal feed could be reduced by monitoring and identifying critical control points at the stages in processing where control could be most effectively applied, recommending standardized control procedures for animal feed processors. Unfortunately, the present situation in LMICs of high AMU combined with inadequate resources and infrastructure to ensure rigorous hygiene during slaughter and meat processing does present significant challenges. It would also be advantageous to reduce or cease completely the transportation of live animals for breeding purposes, as it is possible instead to trade in embryos or semen, thereby avoiding the transportation of large numbers of bacteria in animal guts (Aarestrup, 2006).

Given our current limited knowledge of transmission pathways, options to mitigate the global spread of AMR involve controlling its emergence in various environments, and minimizing the opportunities for AMR to spread along what may be the most important routes. There are clearly numerous opportunities for AMR to spread at local and global scale, and there are still large knowledge gaps as to what the most important routes are.

Mitigation strategies are indeed possible, and require a joint approach based on agricultural, medical and environmental interests. (Wellington *et al.*, 2013). The WHO draft Global Action Plan (GAP) for AMR draws attention to the use of good sanitation, hygiene and other infection prevention methods to curb the initial emergence and spread of AMR, these being important in mitigating the circulation of AMR in agriculture, humans and the environment (WHO, 2014b). The Codex Alimentarius Code of Practice to Minimize and Contain Antimicrobial Resistance provides guidance on the responsible and prudent use of antimicrobials in food animals. The FAO Technical Guidelines for aquaculture certification (FAO, 2011) provide a framework for countries to implement regulated and responsible use of antimicrobials in aquaculture.

Because livestock, humans and the environment are intimately connected, it is important to consider the emergence and spread of AMR from a "One Health" perspective, which provides a framework for an interdisciplinary approach to dealing with this enormous challenge (Finley *et al.*, 2013, Robinson *et al.*, 2016).

## RECOMMENDATIONS

Finally, we present a set of specific recommendations to address the knowledge gaps highlighted in this technical paper:

- The extent of transfer of resistance genes between bacteria in the gut environment of humans and animals should be investigated to quantify the impact of AMU on bacterial populations.
- The dynamics and interactions of genes and microbes within microbiota, microbiomes and different scales of microbial ecosystems, and the transfer of resistance within those, need to be better understood. This will require use of data generated by molecular techniques such as metagenomics together with epidemiological data in an integrated analysis. Databases of molecular sequences are expected to improve over time as usage increases, and bioinformatics techniques need to be developed in order to keep pace with the data challenges associated with the outputs of emerging new sequencing techniques.
- Antimicrobial resistance genes and ICEs can be horizontally transferred between different microbial ecosystems. Being able to better predict the emergence and spread of resistant bacterial clones in the environment and human-agriculture interfaces will help to inform risk-assessment and management strategies. Molecular sequencing and epidemiological studies of resistant bacteria and resistance determinants are required to support risk assessment and simulation (modelling) studies.
- Standardized approaches should be used to create databases of resistance genes and mobile elements encoding resistance traits, and information should be shared freely, such as via the EU project COMPARE (COMPARE, 2015).
- Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetics studies

are required to assess how antimicrobials interact with microbial populations, particularly in the context of treatment of infections, in order to improve the efficacy of therapy and minimize the risk of AMR emergence. Studies involving sampling prior, during and post systemic antimicrobial exposure of livestock and aquatic animals are needed. This also should be applied to humans and to environments where contact between environmental, commensal and pathogenic bacteria is likely to occur (e.g. sewage).

- Changes in the human intestinal microbiome as a result of ingestion of low levels of antimicrobial residues in food can be studied using metagenomic and analytical chemistry approaches, in combination with bioinformatics. This will enable improved risk assessment for maximum residue limits in foods.
- The association between AMU on farms and AMR among food-borne bacteria, as well as the relationship between AMR in livestock and the incidence of resistant infections in humans, need to be quantified as a priority. This should include the direction and extent of transfer of resistance determinants and resistant strains occurring between and among animals, humans and the environment. There is an urgent need for improved data collection in this regard, especially from LMICS. In order to improve data collection there is a need for robust infrastructure and capacity – currently lacking in many countries – to monitor and investigate AMU and AMR.
- Surveillance for AMR should include more emphasis on epigenetics (using molecular techniques and bioinformatics) to allow tracing the origin of emergence. Integrated surveillance should be conducted for AMU and AMR in foodproducing animals and humans. Furthermore,

AMR should also be assessed in food of both animal and non-animal origin. Wildlife species should be investigated as sentinels in surveillance programmes for resistance determinants and resistant bacteria in the environment. Further studies are needed to collect data on the extent and diversity of the resistance gene pool present in the environment. Priority should be given to the development of lab capacity and the training of veterinary and lab staff in LMICs to carry out novel molecular sequencing techniques, in order to support the establishment of AMR surveillance programmes in LMICs.

- Selection pressure is observed even when antimicrobials are used responsibly, in compliance with current recommendations and guidelines.
   It is therefore important that the risk of AMR is assessed in the context of all antimicrobial usage practices, including usage that is compliant with legislation and recommendations.
- Antimicrobial residues in the environment should be monitored regularly in the same way as other hazardous substances.
- Water treatment is an important control point for selection pressure and human/animal exposure. This aspect should be included in all strategies to reduce AMR risk.
- Development of highly biodegradable antimicrobials should be prioritized in order to reduce the pressure of environmental contamination with antimicrobial residues.
- The use and misuse of biocides should be considered when assessing AMR risk. Further

research is needed to assess the impact of biocides and heavy metals on AMR emergence in bacteria. Further in-field surveillance of biocide and heavy metal use, and research into potential causal relationships, is warranted.

- Intensive livestock production methods should be improved by identifying the most efficient systems with regards to minimizing environmental contamination with antimicrobial residues and resistant pathogens, taking into account local conditions and needs, and ensuring sustainability. The benefits of better feed, water, biosecurity and management standards need to be assessed.
- Epidemiologically and cost-effective hygiene practices must be applied within all farming systems and food sectors wherever possible to reduce human exposure to (resistant) pathogens. Use of HACCP protocols is strongly recommended in environments where food is processed and handled.
- A "One Health" approach is essential to improve the efficiency of AMR research, surveillance, prevention and control systems. Harmonized responses and guidelines for AMU and AMR emergence investigation/tracing should be formulated with the integration of animal and human health systems and institutions. Using a "One Health" approach requires a deeper, interdisciplinary understanding of food systems, the drivers of human behaviour within these systems, and the factors which influence how society uses livestock.

## REFERENCES

- Aam, A. A. O. M. 2009. Antibiotic Resistance: An ecological perspective on an old problem. Washington, DC: American Academy of Microbiology.
- Aarestrup, F.M. 2006. Antimicrobial Resistance in Bacteria of Animal Origin, Washington DC. ASM Press.
- Aarestrup, F.M., Wegener, H.C. & Collignon, P. 2008. Resistance of Bacteria of the Food Chain: Epidemiology and Control Strategies. *Expert Rev. Anti Infect. Ther.*, 6: 733-750.
- Abraham, E.P. & Chain, E. 1940. An enzyme from bacteria able to destroy penicillin. *Nature*, 46(3713): 837–837.
- Acar, J. F. & Moulin, G. 2006. Antimicrobial resistance at farm level. *Rev Sci Tech*, 25: 775-92.
- Adelaide, O.A., Bii, C. & Okemo, P. 2008. Antibiotic resistance and virulence factors in *Escherichia coli* from broiler chicken slaughtered at Tigoni processing plant in Limuru, Kenya. *East Afr Med J*, 85: 597-606.
- Adelowo, O.O. Fagade, O.E. & Agerso, Y. 2014. Antibiotic resistance and resistance genes in *Escherichia coli* from poultry farms, southwest Nigeria. *J Infect Dev Ctries*, 8: 1103-12.
- Amábile-Cuevas, C.F. 1993. Origin, Evolution and Spread of Antibiotic Resistance Genes. Austin, Texas. R. G. Landes Co.
- Amábile-Cuevas, C. 2003. Gathering of Resistance Genes in Gram-Negative Bacteria: an Overview. In: AMÁBILE-CUEVAS, C. (ed.) *Multiple Drug Resistant Bacteria*. Norfolk. Horizon Scientific Press.
- Amábile-Cuevas, C.F. 2012. Antibiotic Resistance: From Darwin to Lederberg to Keynes. *Microbial Drug Resistance*, 19:73-87.
- Amábile-Cuevas, C. 2016. Antibiotics and Antibiotic Resistance in the Environment. EH Lieden, The Netherlands. CRC Press.
- Amábile-Cuevas, C. & Arredondo-García, J. 2013. Nitrofurantoin, phenazopyridine, and the superox-

ide-response regulon soxRS of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy*, 19: 1135-1140.

- Amábile-Cuevas, C.F. & Chicurel, M. E. 1992. Bacterial plasmids and gene flux. *Cell*, 70: 189
- Amábile-Cuevas, C. & Arredondo-García, J. 2013. Nitrofurantoin, phenazopyridine, and the superoxide-response regulon soxRS of Escherichia coli. *Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy*, 19: 1135-1140.
- Aminov, R.I. & Mackie, R. I. 2007. Evolution and ecology of antibiotic resistance genes. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, 271: 147-61.
- Anadón, A. 2006. The EU ban of antibiotics as feed additives (2006): alternatives and consumer safety. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 29: 41-44.
- Andersson, D.I. & Hughes, D. 2014. Microbiological effects of sublethal levels of antibiotics. *Nat Rev Microbiol*, 12: 465-78.
- Anon. 2007. Council Regulation (EC) No 834/2007 of 28 June 2007 on organic production and labelling of organic products and repealing Regulation (EEC) No 2092/91. *In:* UNION, E. (ed.) 834/2007. Luxembourg: Official Journal of the European Union.
- Anon. 2012. Regulation (EU) No 528/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 May 2012 concerning the making available on the market and use of biocidal products. In: PARLIAMENT, E. & COUNCIL, E. (eds.) 528/2012. Brussels: Official Journal of the European Union.
- **Apata, D.** 2009. Antibiotic Resistance in Poultry. *International Journal of Poultry Science*, 8: 404-408.
- **APUA.** 2008. AMROAR Scientific Meeting Report on Commensals as Reservoirs of Antibiotic Resistance. In: ROAR (ed.). Boston: APUA.
- Baquero, F., Martínez, J.L. & Cantón, R. 2008. Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in water environments. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 19: 260-265.

- Benveniste, R. & Davies, J. 1973. Aminoglycoside Antibiotic-Inactivating Enzymes in Actinomycetes Similar to Those Present in Clinical Isolates of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 70(8): 2276–2280.
- Bergstrom, C.T. & Feldgarden, M. 2007. The Ecology and Evolution of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria. In: STEA-RNS, S. C. & KOELLA , J. C. (eds.) *Evolution in Health* and Disease. 2 ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Berkner, S., Konradi, S. & Schonfeld, J. 2014. Antibiotic resistance and the environment – there and back again: Science & Society series on Science and Drugs. *EMBO* Rep, 15: 740-4.
- Bhullar, K., Waglechner, N., Pawlowski, A., Koteva, K., Banks, E. D., Johnston, M. D., Barton, H.
  A. & Wright, G. D. 2012. Antibiotic resistance is prevalent in an isolated cave microbiome. *PLoS One*, 7, e34953.
- Binh, C.T., Heuer, H., Gomes, N.C., Kotzerke, A., Fulle, M., Wilke, B.M., Schloter, M. & Smalla, K. 2007. Short-term effects of amoxicillin on bacterial communities in manured soil. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 62: 290-302.
- Boerlin, P. & White, D.G. 2006. Antimicrobial Resistance and Its Epidemiology. In: GIGUERE, S., PRESCOTT, J. F., BAGGOT, J. D., WALKER, R. D. & DOWLING, P. M. (eds.) Antimicrobial Therapy in Veterinary Medicine. 4 ed. Oxford. Blackwell Publishing.
- Burow E., Simoneit, C., Tenhagen, B.A. & Kasbohrer, A. 2014. Oral antimicrobials increase antimicrobial resistance in porcine *E. coli* – a systematic review. *Prev Vet Med*, 113: 364-75.
- **Cabello, F.C.** 2006. Heavy use of prophylactic antibiotics in aquaculture: a growing problem for human and animal health and for the environment. *Environ Microbiol,* 8: 1137-44.
- Capita, R. & Alonso-Calleja, C. 2013. Antibiotic-resistant bacteria: a challenge for the food industry. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*, 53: 11-48.
- Cardona, C., Yee, K. & Carpenter, T. 2009. Are live bird markets reservoirs of avian influenza? *Poult Sci*, 88: 856-9.

- Carvalho, F.C., Sousa, O.V., Carvalho, E.M., Hofer, E. & Vieira, R.H. 2013. Antibiotic Resistance of Salmonella spp. isolated from Shrimp Farming Freshwater Environment in Northeast Region of Brazil. J Pathog, 2013, 685193.
- Castanon, J.I.R. 2007. History of the Use of Antibiotic as Growth Promoters in European Poultry Feeds.
  86. Available: http://ps.oxfordjournals.org/content/86/11/2466.full.pdf.
- Catry, B., Cavaleri, M., Baptiste, K., Grave, K., Grein, K., Holm, A., Jukes, H., Liebana, E., Lopez Navas, A., Mackay, D., Magiorakos, A.P., Moreno Romo, M.A., Moulin, G., Muñoz Madero, C., Matias Ferreira Pomba, M.C., Powell, M., Pyörälä, S., Rantala, M., Ružauskas, M., Sanders, P., Teale, C., Threlfall, E.J.,Törneke, K., Van Duijkeren, E. & Torren Edo, J. 2015. Use of colistin-containing products within the European Union and European Economic Area (EU/EEA): development of resistance in animals and possible impact on human and animal health. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*. 46(3): 297-306.
- Cerniglia, C.E., Pineiro, S. A. & Kotarski, S. F. 2016. An update discussion on the current assessment of the safety of veterinary antimicrobial drug residues in food with regard to their impact on the human intestinal microbiome. *Drug Testing and Analysis*, 8 (5-6): 539–548.
- **Cerniglia, C.E. & Kotarski, S.** 2005. Approaches in the safety evaluations of veterinary antimicrobial agents in food to determine the effects on the human intestinal microflora. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 28: 3-20.
- **Chambers, H.F.** 1999. Penicillin-Binding Protein–Mediated Resistance in Pneumococci and Staphylococci. *J Infect Dis.* 179(2): 353-359.
- Chain, E., Florey, H.W., Gardner, A.D., Heatley, N.G., Jennings, M.A., Ewing, J.O. & Sanders, A.G. 1940. Penicillin as a chemotherapeutic agent. *Lancet.* 2: 226-228.
- **Chan, K.G.** 2016. Whole-genome sequencing in the prediction of antimicrobial resistance. *Expert Review* of *Anti-infective Therapy.* 14(7): 617-619.

- Chantziaras, I., Boyen, F., Callens, B. & Dewulf, J. 2014. Correlation between veterinary antimicrobial use and antimicrobial resistance in food-producing animals: a report on seven countries. *J Antimicrob Chemother*, 69: 827-34.
- Chee-Sanford, J.C., Aminov, R. I., Krapac, I.J., Garrigues-Jeanjean, N., Mackie, R.I., 2001. Occurrence and Diversity of Tetracycline Resistance Genes in Lagoons and Groundwater Underlying Two Swine Production Facilities. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67: 1494.
- Clausen, P.T.L.C., Zankari, E.A., Aarestrup, F.M. & Lund, O.L.E. 2016. Benchmarking of methods for identification of antimicrobial resistance genes in bacterial whole genome data. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 71(7).
- **Codex Alimentarius.** 2005. Code of practice to minimize and contain antimicrobial resistance (CAC/RCP 61-2005)
- **Codex Alimentarius.** 2015a. *Residues of Veterinary Drugs in Foods* [Online]. Available: http://www. fao.org/fao-who-codexalimentarius/roster/detail/ en/c/284688/ [Accessed 5 August 2016].
- Codex Alimentarius. 2015b. Codex Veterinary Drug Residue in Food Online Database [Online]. Available: http://www.codexalimentarius.org/standards/ veterinary-drugs-mrls/en/ [Accessed 28 April 2015].
- **Cogliani, C., Goossens, H. & Greko, C.** 2011. Restricting Antimicrobial Use in Food Animals: Lessons from Europe. Microbe: *Features*, **6:** 274-279.
- **Compare** (2015) Project Plan. Available at: http:// www.compare-europe.eu/Project-organisation/ Project-plan [Accessed 7 July 2016].
- **Courvalin, P.** 2008. Predictable and unpredictable evolution of antibiotic resistance. *J Intern Med*, 264: 4-16.
- Cristobal-Azkarate, J., Dunn, J.C., Day, J.M. & Amábile-Cuevas, C.F. 2014. Resistance to antibiotics of clinical relevance in the fecal microbiota of Mexican wildlife. *PLoS One*, 9, e107719.
- Cui, S., Ge, B., Zheng, J. & Meng, J. 2005. Prevalence and Antimicrobial Resistance of *Campylobacter* spp.

and *Salmonella* Serovars in Organic Chickens from Maryland Retail Stores. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71: 4108-4111.

- D'Costa, V.M., King, C. E., Kalan, I., Morar, M., Sung, W. W. L., Schwarz, C., Froese, D., Zazula, G., Calmels, F., Debruyne, R., Golding, G. B., Poinar, H.N. & Wright, G.D. 2011. Antibiotic resistance is ancient. *Nature*, 477: 457-461.
- Da Costa, P.M., Loureiro, L. & Matos, A. J. 2013. Transfer of multidrug-resistant bacteria between intermingled ecological niches: the interface between humans, animals and the environment. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 10: 278-94.
- **Davies, J. & Davies, D.** 2010. Origins and evolution of antibiotic resistance. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev*, 74: 417-33.
- Davin-Regli, A. & Pagès, J-M. 2012. Cross-resistance between biocides and antimicrobials: an emerging question. *Rev. sci. tech. Off. int. Epiz.*, 31: 89-104.
- Davis, M.F., Price, L.B., Meng-Hsin Liu, C. & Silbergeld, E.K. 2011. An ecological perspective on U.S. industrial poultry production: the role of anthropogenic ecosystems on the emergence of drug-resistant bacteria from agricultural environments. *Current Opinion in Microbiology.* 14(3): 244–250.
- De Vasconcelos Byrne, V., Hofer, E., Vallim, D.C., & de Castro Almeida, R.C. 2016. Occurrence and antimicrobial resistance patterns of *Listeria monocytogenes* isolated from vegetables. *Braz J Microbiol.*, 47(2): 438–443.
- **Defra.** 2014. Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) Systems Map – Overview of the factors influencing the development of AMR and the interactions between them. In: DEFRA (ed.) 1 ed. London: DEFRA.
- Demple, B. & Amábile-Cuevas, C. 2003. Multiple resistance mediated by individual genetic loci. In: AMÁBILE-CUEVAS, C. (ed.) *Multiple Drug Resistant Bacteria.* Norfolk. Horizon Scientific Press.
- Díaz-Mejía, J.J., Amábile-Cuevas, C.F., Rosas, I. & Souza, V. 2008. An analysis of the evolutionary relationships of integron integrases, with emphasis

on the prevalence of class 1 integrons in *Escherichia coli* isolates from clinical and environmental origins. *Microbiology*, 154: 94-102.

- Dione, M. M., Leven, M., Garin, B., Marcotty, T. & Geerts, S. 2009. Prevalence and Antimicrobial Resistance of Salmonella Isolated from Broiler Farms, Chicken Carcasses, and Street-Vended Restaurants in Casamance, Senegal. *Journal of Food Protection*, 72: 2423-2427.
- Dipeolu, M. & Alonge, D. 2002. Residues of streptomycin antibiotic in meat sold for human consumption in some states of SW Nigeria. *Arch Zootec*, 51: 477-80.
- Doumith, M., Godbole, G., Ashton, P., Larkin, I., Dallman, T., Day, M., Muller-Pebody, B., Ellington, M.J., De Pinna, E., Johnson, A.P., Hopkins, K.L. & Woodford, N. 2016. Detection of the plasmid-mediated mcr-1 gene conferring colistin resistance in human and food isolates of *Salmonella enterica* and *Escherichia coli* in England and Wales. *J Antimicrob Chemother.* 71(7).
- Duff, G. C. & Galyean, M. L. 2007. Board-invited review: recent advances in management of highly stressed, newly received feedlot cattle. J Anim Sci, 85, 823-40.
- Duong, V. N., Paulsen, P., Suriyasathaporn, W., Smulders, F. J., Kyule, M. N., Baumann, M. P., Zessin, K. H. & Pham, H. N. 2006. Preliminary analysis of tetracycline residues in marketed pork in Hanoi, Vietnam. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1081: 534-42.
- **ECDC/EFSA/EMEA**. 2009. Joint Scientific Report of ECDC, EFSA and EMEA on Meticillin Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) in Livestock, Companion Animals and Food. *EFSA Journal*, 7 (6).
- **ECDC/EFSA/EMEA.** 2015. ECDC/EFSA/EMA First joint report on the integrated analysis of the consumption of antimicrobial agents and occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from humans and food-producing animals. *EFSA Journal*, 13: 114.
- **ECDC/EFSA/EMEA.** 2009. Joint Opinion on antimicrobial resistance (AMR) focused on zoonotic infections. *EFSA Journal*, 7.

- **ECDC & EMEA.** 2009. The bacterial challenge : time to react – A call to narrow the gap between multidrug-resistant bacteria in the EU and the development of new antibacterial agents - technical report. Available at: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications/ Publications/0909\_TER\_The\_Bacterial\_Challenge\_ Time\_to\_React.pdf
- **EMA.** 2014. Answers to the requests for scientific advice on the impact on public health and animal health of the use of antibiotics in animals. Available at: http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_GB/document\_library/Other/2014/07/WC500170253.pdf
- EMA. 2015. CVMP strategy on antimicrobials 2016-2020. EMA/CVMP/209189/2015, Committee for Medicinal Products for Veterinary Use (CVMP). Available at: http://www.ema.europa.eu/docs/en\_ GB/document\_library/Scientific\_guideline/2015/11/ WC500196645.pdf
- **ESVAC.** 2015. Sales of veterinary antimicrobial agents in 26 EU/EEA countries in 2013. European Surveillance of Veterinary Antimicrobial Consumption (EMA/387934/2015).
- **European Commission.** 2005. Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 September 2003 on additives for use in animal nutrition. Available at: http://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX-%3A32003R1831
- European Commission. 2006. Directive 2006/11/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 February 2006 on pollution caused by certain dangerous substances discharged into the aquatic environment of the community. Available at: http:// eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=O-J:L:2006:064:0052:0059:EN:PDF
- **FAO.** 2011. *Technical Guidelines on Aquaculture Certification* [Online]. Rome: FAO. Available: http://www. fao.org/docrep/015/i2296t/i2296t00.htm
- **FAO.** 2012. Improving biosecurity through prudent and responsible use of veterinary medicines in aquatic food production. *Fisheries and aquaculture technical paper*. Rome, Italy.

- **FAO.** 2013a. FAO Statistical Yearbook 2013: Feeding the World. Rome.
- **FAO.** 2013b. World Livestock 2013 Changing Disease Landscapes. *In:* SLINGENBERGH, J. (ed.). Rome.
- **FAO.** 2014. REVIEW of the Literature on Antimicrobial Resistance in Zoonotic Bacteria from Livestock in East, South and Southeast Asia. Bangkok, Thailand.
- **FAO/OIE/WHO**. 2006. Antimicrobial Use in Aquaculture and Antimicrobial Resistance. *Report of a joint FAO/OIE/WHO expert consultation on antimicrobial use in aquaculture and antimicrobial resistance. Seoul, Republic of Korea.*
- **FAOSTAT.** 2014. Statistics Division [Online]. Available: http://faostat.fao.org/ [Accessed 24 December 2014].
- Fernández Fuentes, M.Á., Ortega Morente, E., Abriouel, H., Pérez Pulido, R. & Gálvez, A. 2014. Antimicrobial resistance determinants in antibiotic and biocide-resistant gram-negative bacteria from organic foods. *Food Control*, 37: 9-14.
- Finley, R.L., Collignon, P., Larsson, D.G., Mcewen, S.A., Li, X. Z., Gaze, W.H., Reid-Smith, R., Timinouni, M., Graham, D.W. & Topp, E. 2013. The scourge of antibiotic resistance: the important role of the environment. *Clin Infect Dis*, 57: 704-10.
- Forsberg, K.J., Reyes, A., Wang, B., Selleck, E.M., Sommer, M. O. & Dantas, G. 2012. The shared antibiotic resistome of soil bacteria and human pathogens. *Science*, 337: 1107-11.
- Fleming, A. 1929. On the Antibacterial Action of Cultures of a Penicillium, with Special Reference to their Use in the Isolation of B. influenzæ. Br J Exp Pathol. 10(3): 226-236.
- **Fraise, A.P.** 2002. Biocide abuse and antimicrobial resistance a cause for concern? *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 49: 11-12.
- Furuya, E.Y. & Lowy, F. D. 2006. Antimicrobial-resistant bacteria in the community setting. *Nat Rev Micro*, 4: 36-45.
- Garcia-Alvarez, L., Dawson, S., Cookson, B. & Hawkey, P. 2012. Working across the veterinary and human health sectors. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 67: 37-49.

- Gebreyes, W.A., Thakur, S. & Morrow, W.E.M. 2005. *Campylobacter coli*: prevalence and antimicrobial resistance in antimicrobial-free (ABF) swine production systems. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 56(4): 765-768.
- Glynn, M.K., Reddy, V., Hutwagner, L., Rabatsky-Ehr, T., Shiferaw, B., Vugia, D.J., Segler, S., Bender, J., Barrett, T. J., Angulo, F. J. & FTEIPF Working Group 2004. Prior Antimicrobial Agent Use Increases the Risk of Sporadic Infections with Multidrug-Resistant Salmonella enterica Serotype Typhimurium: A FoodNet Case-Control Study, 1996– 1997. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 38: S227-S236
- Grace, D., Randolph, T., Diall, O. & Clausen, P.
  2008. Training farmers in rational drug-use improves their management of cattle trypanosomosis:
  A cluster-randomised trial in south Mali. *Preventative Veterinary Medicine*, 83: 83-97.
- Gullberg, E., Cao, S., Berg, O.G., Ilbäck, C., Sandegren, L., Hughes, D. & Andersson, D. I. 2011. Selection of Resistant Bacteria at Very Low Antibiotic Concentrations. *PLoS Pathogens*, 7, e1002158
- Hao, R., Zhao, R., Qiu, S., Wang, L. & Song, H. 2015. Antibiotics crisis in China. *Science*, 348: 6239.
- Harada, K. & Asai, T. 2010. Role of antimicrobial selective pressure and secondary factors on antimicrobial resistance prevalence in *Escherichia coli* from food-producing animals in Japan. *J Biomed Biotechnol*, 2010: 1-12.
- **HBF.** 2014. Meat Atlas. *In:* Chemnitz, C. & Becheva, S. (eds.). Berlin, Germany.
- Heuer, H., Krogerrecklenfort, E., Wellington, E.M., Egan, S., Van Elsas, J.D., Van Overbeek, L., Collard, J.M., Guillaume, G., Karagouni, A.D., Nikolakopoulou, T.L. & Smalla, K. 2002. Gentamicin Resistance Genes in environmental bacteria: prevalence and transfer. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol*, 42: 289-302.
- Heuer, H. & Smalla, K. 2007. Manure and sulfadiazine synergistically increased bacterial antibiotic resistance in soil over at least two months. *Environ Microbiol*, 9: 657-66.
- Heuer, O.E., Kruse, H., Grave, K., Collignon, P., Karunasagar, I. & Angulo, F. J. 2009. Human

health consequences of use of antimicrobial agents in aquaculture. *Clin Infect Dis,* 49: 1248-53.

- Holmström, K., Gräslund, S., Wahlström, A., Poungshompoo, S., Bengtsson, B.E. & Kautsky,
  N. 2003. Antibiotic use in shrimp farming and implications for environmental impacts and human health. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 38: 255-266.
- Holtcamp, W. 2011. Poultry Relief? Organic Farming May Reduce Drug Resistance. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 119: a489-a489.
- Hong, P.Y., Yannarell, A. & Mackie, R.I. 2011. The contribution of antibiotic residues and antibiotic resistance genes from livestock operations to antibiotic resistance in the environment and food chain. Wallingford: CABI.
- Hsieh, Y.C., Lee, K.M., Poole, T., Runyon, M., Jones,
  B. & Herrman, T. J. 2014. Detection and Isolation of Salmonella spp. in Animal Feeds from 2007-2011. International Journal of Regulatory Science, 2.
- Hughes, V. M. & Datta, N. 1983. Conjugative plasmids in bacteria of the `pre-antibiotic' era. Nature, 302: 725-726.
- **IFT.** 2006. IFT Report Antimicrobial Resistance Implications for the Food System. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 5: 71-137.
- Igbinosa, E.O., Obi, L. C., Tom, M. & Okoh, A. I. 2011. Detection of potential risk of wastewater effluents for transmission of antibiotic resistance from Vibrio species as a reservoir in a peri-urban community in South Africa. Int *J Environ Health Res*, 21: 402-14.
- Ishida, Y., Ahmed, A.M., Mahfouz, N. B., Kimura, T., El-Khodery, S.A., Moawad, A.A. & Shimamoto, T. 2010. Molecular analysis of antimicrobial resistance in gram-negative bacteria isolated from fish farms in Egypt. J Vet Med Sci, 72: 727-34.
- Jiang, H.X., Tang, D., Liu, Y.H., Zhang, X.H., Zeng, Z.L., Xu, L. & Hawkey, P.M. 2012. Prevalence and characteristics of beta-lactamase and plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance genes in *Escherichia coli* isolated from farmed fish in China. J Antimicrob Chemother, 67: 2350-3.

- Jiménez-Arribas, G., Léautaud, V. & Amábile-Cuevas, C. F. 2001. Regulatory locus soxRS partially protects *Escherichia coli* against ozone. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 195: 175-177.
- Jones, K. E., Patel, N. G., Levy, M. A., Storeygard, A., Balk, D., Gittleman, J. L. & Daszak, P. 2008. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. *Nature*, 451: 990-3.
- Kang'ethe, E.K., Aboge, G.O., Arimi, S. M., Kanja, L.W., Omore, A.O. & Mcdermott, J. J. 2005. Investigation of the risk of consuming marketed milk with antimicrobial residues in Kenya. *Food Control*, 16: 349-355
- Kariuki, S., Onsare, R., Mwituria, J., Ng'etich, R., Nafula, C., Karimi, K., Karimi, P., Njeruh, F., Irungu, P. & Mitema, E. 2013. FAO/WHO Project Report. Improving Food Safety in Meat Value Chains in Kenya. *Food Protection Trends*, 172-179.
- Katakweba, A.A.S., Mtambo, M.M.A., Olsen, J.
  E. & Muhairwa, A.P. 2012. Awareness of human health risks associated with the use of antibiotics among livestock keepers and factors that contribute to selection of antibiotic resistance bacteria within livestock in Tanzania. *Livestock Research for Rural Development*, 24.
- Kemper, N. 2008. Veterinary antibiotics in the aquatic and terrestrial environment. *Ecological Indicators*, 8(1): 1-13.
- Kim, S.M., Oh, T. & Kim, H.J. 2015. Antimicrobial resistance, molecular, and phenotypic diversity of *Escherichia coli* isolates from fresh vegetable products in Korea. *Journal of the Korean Society for Applied Biological Chemistry*, 58(5): 745-750.
- Kjeldgaard, J., Cohn, M.T., Casey, P. G., Hill, C. & Ingmer, H. 2012. Residual Antibiotics Disrupt Meat Fermentation and Increase Risk of Infection. *mBio*, 3.
- Kluytmans–Van Den Bergh, M.F., Huizinga, P., Bonten, M.J., Bos, M., De Bruyne, K., Friedrich, A.W., Rossen, J.W., Savelkoul, P.H. & Kluytmans, J.A. 2016. Presence of mcr-1-positive enterobacteriaceae in retail chicken meat but not in humans in the Netherlands since 2009. *Eurosurveillance*, 21(9).

- Koningstein, M., Simonsen, J., Helms, M. & Mølbak, K. 2010. The interaction between prior antimicrobial drug exposure and resistance in human Salmonella infections. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 65: 1819-1825.
- Kumar, K., Gupta, S.C., Chander, Y. & Singh, A.K. 2005. Antibiotic Use in Agriculture and Its Impact on the Terrestrial Environment. *Advances in Agronomy.* 87: 1-54.
- Lambert, T. 2012. Antibiotics that affect the ribosome. *Rev. sci. tech. Off. int. Epiz.*, 31: 57-64.
- Landers, T.F., Cohen, B., Wittum, T.E. & Larson, E.I. 2012. A Review of Antibiotic Use in Food Animals: Perspective, Policy, and Potential. *Public Health Rep.* 127(1): 4–22.
- Larsson, D.G.J., De Pedro, C. & Paxeus, N. 2007. Effluent from drug manufactures contains extremely high levels of pharmaceuticals. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 148: 751-755.
- Laxminarayan, R., Bhutta, Z., Duse, A., Jenkins, P., O'Brien, T., Okeke, I.N., Pablo-Mendez, A. & Klugman, K.P. 2006. Drug resistance. In: Jamison, D. T., Breman, J. G., Measham, A. R., Alleyne, G., Claeson, M., Evans, D. B., Jha, P., Mills, A. & Musgrove, P. (eds.) *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries.* 2 ed. Washington D. C. World Bank.
- Laxminarayan, R., Duse, A., Wattal, C., Zaidi, A.K., Wertheim, H.F., Sumpradit, N., Vlieghe, E., Hara, G.L., Gould, I.M., Goossens, H., Greko, C., SO, A.D., Bigdeli, M., Tomson, G., Woodhouse, W., Ombaka, E., Peralta, A.Q., Qamar, F.N., Mir, F., Kariuki, S., Bhutta, Z.A., Coates, A., Bergstrom, R., Wright, G.D., Brown, E.D. & Cars, O. 2013. Antibiotic resistance-the need for global solutions. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 13(12): 1057-98.
- Laxminarayan, R., Van Boeckel, T. & Teillant, A. 2015. The economic costs of withdrawing antimicrobial growth promoters from the livestock sector, OECD Food, Agriculture and Fisheries Papers, No. 78.
- Lazarus, B., Paterson, D. L., Mollinger, J. L. & Rogers, B. A. 2015. Do Human Extraintestinal *Esche*-

*richia coli* Infections Resistant to Expanded-Spectrum Cephalosporins Originate from Food-Producing Animals? A Systematic Review. *Clin Infect Dis*, 60: 439-52.

- Le, T.X. & Munekage, Y. 2004. Residues of selected antibiotics in water and mud from shrimp ponds in mangrove areas in Viet Nam. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 49: 922-929.
- Lee, K.W., Ho Hong, Y., Lee, S.H., Jang, S.I., Park, M.S., Bautista, D. A., Donald Ritter, G., Jeong, W., Jeoung, H.Y., An, D.J., Lillehoj, E.P. & Lillehoj, H. S. 2012. Effects of anticoccidial and antibiotic growth promoter programs on broiler performance and immune status. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 93: 721-728.
- Leonard, A. F., Zhang, L., Balfour, A. J., Garside, R.
   & Gaze, W. H. 2015. Human recreational exposure to antibiotic resistant bacteria in coastal bathing waters. *Environ Int*.
- Levy, S.B. & Marshall, B. 2004. Antibacterial resistance worldwide: causes, challenges and responses. *Nat Med*, 10S122-9.
- Lewis, H.C., Mølbak, K., Reese, C., Aarestrup, F. M., Selchau, M., Sørum, M. & Skov, R. L. 2008. Pigs as Source of Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococ-cus aureus* CC398 Infections in Humans, Denmark. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 14: 1383-1389.
- Li, J., Wang, T., Shao, B., Shen, J., Wang, S. & Wu, Y. 2012. Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance genes and antibiotic residues in wastewater and soil adjacent to swine feedlots: potential transfer to agricultural lands. Environ *Health Perspect*, 120: 1144-9.
- Liebert, C.A., Hall, R.M. & Summers, A.O. 1999. Transposon Tn21, flagship of the floating genome. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev.* 63(3): 507-22.
- Literak, I., Dolejska, M., Janoszowska, D., Hrusakova, J., Meissner, W., Rzyska H., Bzoma, S.
  & Cizek, A. 2010. Antibiotic-Resistant Escherichia coli Bacteria, Including Strains with Genes Encoding the Extended-Spectrum Beta-Lactamase and QnrS, in Waterbirds on the Baltic Sea Coast of Poland. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 76, 24: 8126-8134.

- Liu, Y.Y., Wang, Y., Walsh, T.R., Yi, L.X., Zhang, R., Spencer, J., Doi, Y., Guobao Tian, G., Dong, B., Huang, X., Yu, L.F., Gu, D., Ren, H., Chen, X. Luchao, L.V, He, D, Zhou, H., Liang, Z., Liu, J.H. & Shen, J. 2016 Emergence of plasmid-mediated colistin resistance mechanism MCR-1 in animals and human beings in China: a microbiological and molecular biological study. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases.* 16(2): 161–168.
- Lowrance, T., Loneragan, G., Kunze, D., Platt, T., Ives, S., Scott, H., Norby, B., Echeverry, A. & Brashears, M. 2007. Changes in Antimicrobial Susceptibility in a Population of *Escherichia coli* Isolated from Feedlot Cattle Administered Ceftiofur Crystalline-Free Acid. AJVR, 68: 501-508.
- Luby, E., Ibekwe, M., Zilles, J. & Pruden, A. 2016. Molecular Methods for Assessment of Antibiotic Resistance in Agricultural Ecosystems: Prospects and Challenges. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 45(2): 441-453.
- Lupo, A., Coyne, S. & Berendonk, T. U. 2012. Origin and evolution of antibiotic resistance: the common mechanisms of emergence and spread in water bodies. *Front Microbiol*, 3: 18.
- Marti, R., Scott, A., Tien, Y. C., Murray, R., Sabourin, L., Zhang, Y. & Topp, E. 2013. Impact of manure fertilization on the abundance of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and frequency of detection of antibiotic resistance genes in soil and on vegetables at harvest. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 79: 5701-9.
- Marshall, B.M. & Levy, S.B. Food animals and antimicrobials: impacts on human health. 2011 *Clinical Microbiology Reviews.* 24: 718–733.
- Martinez, J.L. 2008. Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in natural environments. *Science*, 321: 365-7.
- Martinez, J.L. & Baquero, F. 2009. Antibiotics and the Evolution of Antibiotic Resistance. Available online at http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ doi/10.1002/9780470015902.a0021782/full
- Mather, A.E., Matthews, L., Mellor, D.J., Reeve, R., Denwood, M.J., Boerlin, P., Reid-Smith, R.

J., Brown, D. J., Coia, J. E., Browning, L. M., Haydon, D.T. & Reid, S. W. J. 2011. An ecological approach to assessing the epidemiology of antimicrobial resistance in animal and human populations. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B.* 279(1733): 1457-1664.

- Mather, A.E., Reid, S. W., Maskell, D.J., Parkhill, J.,
  Fookes, M.C., Harris, S. R., Brown, D.J., Coia, J.
  E., Mulvey, M. R., Gilmour, M.W., Petrovska, L.,
  De Pinna, E., Kuroda, M., Akiba, M., Izumiya,
  H., Connor, T.R., Suchard, M.A., Lemey, P., Mellor, D.J., Haydon, D. T. & Thomson, N.R. 2013.
  Distinguishable epidemics of multidrug-resistant
  Salmonella Typhimurium DT104 in different hosts.
  Science, 341: 1514-7.
- Mathew, A. G., Cissell, R. & Liamthong, S. 2007. Antibiotic resistance in bacteria associated with food animals: a United States perspective of livestock production. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 4: 115-33.
- Mazel, D. 2004. Integrons and the Origin of Antibiotic Resistance Gene Cassettes. *ASM News*, 70: 520-525.
- Mazurek, J., Pusz, P., Bok, E., Stosik, M. & Baldy-Chudzik, K. 2013. The Phenotypic and Genotypic Characteristics of Antibiotic Resistance in *Escherichia coli* Populations Isolated from Farm Animals with Different Exposure to Antimicrobial Agents. *Polish Journal of Microbiology*, 62: 173-179.
- McArthur, A.G., Waglechner, N., Nizam, F., Yan,
  A., Azad, M.A., Baylay, A.J., Bhullar, K., Canova, M.J., De Pascale, G., Ejim, L., Kalan, L., King,
  A.M., Koteva, K., Morar, M., Mulvey, M.R.,
  O'Brien, J.S., Pawlowski, A.C., Piddock, L.J.V.,
  Spanogiannopoulos, P., Sutherland, A.D., Tang,
  I., Taylor, P.L., Thaker, M., Wang, W, Yan, M.,
  Yu, T. & Wright, G.D. 2013. The Comprehensive
  Antibiotic Resistance Database. Antimicrob. Agents
  Chemother. 57(7): 3348-3357.
- McDermott, P. F., Zhao, S., Wagner, D. D., Simjee, S., Walker, R. D. & White, D. G. 2002. The food safety perspective of antibiotic resistance. *Anim Biotechnol*, 13: 71-84.

- McEachran, A. D., Blackwell, B.R., Hanson, J.D., Wooten, K.J., Mayer, G.D., Cox, S. B. & Smith,
  P. N. 2015. Antibiotics, Bacteria, and Antibiotic Resistance Genes: Aerial Transport from Cattle Feed Yards via Particulate Matter. Environ Health Perspect, 123: 337-43.
- McEwen, S.A. 2006. Antibiotic use in animal agriculture: what have we learned and where are we going? *Anim Biotechnol*, 17: 239-50.
- McEwen, S.A. & Fedorka-Cray, P. J. 2002. Antimicrobial use and resistance in animals. *Clin Infect Dis*, 34 Suppl 3: S93-S106.
- McGowan, L.L., et al. 2006 Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of enterococci isolated from retail fruits, vegetables, and meats. *Journal of Food Protection.* 69(12): 2976-2982.
- Miranda, C.D., Tello, A. & Keen, P. L. 2013. Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in finfish aquaculture environments. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 4: 233.
- Mitema, E.S., Kikuvi, G. M., Wegener, H. C. & Stohr,
  K. 2001. An assessment of antimicrobial consumption in food producing animals in Kenya. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 24: 385-390.
- Muriuki, F.K., Ogara, W. O., Njeruh, F. M. & Mitema, E. S. 2001. Tetracycline residue levels in cattle meat from Nairobi slaughter house in Kenya. *J Vet Sci*, 2: 97-101.
- Fernández Fuentes, M.Á., Ortega Morente, E., Abriouel, H., Pérez Pulido, R. & Gálvez, A. 2014. Antimicrobial resistance determinants in antibiotic and biocide-resistant gram-negative bacteria from organic foods. *Food Control*, 37: 9-14.
- Muziasari, W.I., Managaki, S., Pärnänen, K., Karkman, A., Lyra, C., Tamminen, M., Suzuki, S. & Virta, M. 2014. Sulphonamide and Trimethoprim Resistance Genes Persist in Sediments at Baltic Sea Aquaculture Farms but Are Not Detected in the Surrounding Environment. *PLoS ONE*, 9, e92702.
- Narms. 2013. National Antimicrobial Resistance Monitoring System – 2013 Executive report.

- Nonaka, L., Ikeno, K. & Suzuki, S. 2007. Distribution of Tetracycline Resistance Gene, *tet*(M), in Gram-positive and Gram-negative Isolates from Sediment and Seawater at a Coastal Aquaculture Site in Japan. *Microbes Environ.*, 22: 355-364.
- Noor Uddin, G. M., Larsen, M.H., Guardabassi, L.
   & Dalsgaard, A. 2013. Bacterial flora and antimicrobial resistance in raw frozen cultured seafood imported to Denmark. *J Food Prot*, 76: 490-9.
- Novo, A., Andre, S., Viana, P., Nunes, O.C. & Manaia, C. M. 2013. Antibiotic resistance, antimicrobial residues and bacterial community composition in urban wastewater. *Water Res*, 47, 1875-87.
- **O'Neill, J.** 2001. Building Better Global Economic BRICs. *Goldman Sachs Economic Research Group*. Goldman Sachs.
- O'Neill, J. 2015. Antimicrobials in agriculture and the environment: reducing unnecessary use and waste. The review on antimicrobial resistance. Available at: http://amr-review.org/sites/default/files/Antimicrobials%20in%20agriculture%20and%20the%20 environment%20-%20Reducing%20unnecessary%20use%20and%20waste.pdf
- **O'Neill, J.** 2016. Tackling drug-resistant infections globally: final report and recommendations. The review on antimicrobial resistance. Available at: http://amr-review.org/sites/default/files/160525\_Final percent20paper\_with percent20cover.pdf
- Oggioni, M. R., Coelho, J.R., Furi, I., Knight, D.R., Viti, C., Orefici, G., Martinez, J.L., Freitas, A.T., Coque, T.M., Morrissey, I. & Biohypo Consortium. 2015. Significant Differences Characterise the Correlation Coefficients between Biocide and Antibiotic Susceptibility Profiles in *Staphylococcus aureus. Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 21: 2054-2057.
- Okeke, I.N., Laxminarayan, R., Bhutta, Z.A., Duse,
  A. G., Jenkins, P., O'brien, T.F., Pablos-Mendez,
  A. & Klugman, K.P. 2005. Antimicrobial resistance in developing countries. Part I: recent trends and current status. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 5: 481-493.

- **Osei Sekyere, J.** 2014. Antibiotic Types and Handling Practices in Disease Management among Pig Farms in Ashanti Region, Ghana. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine*, 2014: 8.
- Österblad, M., Norrdahl, K., Korpimäki, E. & Huovinen, P. 2001. Antibiotic resistance: How wild are wild mammals? *Nature*, 409: 37.
- Otte, J., Roland-Holst, D., Pfeiffer, D., Soares-Magalhaes, R., Rushton, J., Graham, J. & Silbergeld, E. 2007. Industrial Livestock Production and Global Health Risks. *PPLPI Research Report*. DFID.
- Overdevest, I., Willemsen, I., Rijnsburger, M., Eustace, A., Xu, L., Hawkey, P., Heck, M., Savelkoul, P., Vandenbroucke-Grauls, C., Van Der Zwaluw, K., Huijsdens, X. & Kluytmans, J. 2011. Extended-spectrum beta-lactamase genes of *Escherichia coli* in chicken meat and humans, The Netherlands. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 17: 1216-22.
- Ozawa, Y., Tanimoto, K., Nomura, T., Yoshinaga, M., Arakawa, Y. & Ike, Y. 2002. Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococci in Humans and Imported Chickens in Japan. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 68: 6457-6461.
- Padungtod, P., Kaneene, J.B., Hanson, R., Morita,
  Y. & Boonmar, S. 2006. Antimicrobial resistance in *Campylobacter* isolated from food animals and humans in northernThailand. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol*, 47: 217-225.
- PCIFAP. 2010. Antimicrobial Resistance and Human Health. *In:* SILBERGELD, E., PRICE, L. & GRAHAM, J. (eds.) 1 ed. Washington DC: Pew Commission on Industrial Farm Animal Production.
- **Pei-Ying Hong, A.Y., Mackie, R.I.** 2011. The contribution of antibiotic residues and antibiotic resistance genes from livestock operations to antibiotic resistance and the environment and food chain. *Commonwealth Agricultural Bureau International* (CABI).
- Pehrsson, E.C., Tsukayama, P., Patel, S., Mejía-Bautista, M., Sosa-Soto, G., Navarrete, K.M., Calderon, M., Cabrera, L., Hoyos-Arango, W., Bertoli, M.T., Berg, D.E., Gilman, R.H. & Dantas, G.

2016 Interconnected microbiomes and resistomes in low-income human habitats. *Nature*, 533(7602): 212-6.

- Penders, J., Stobberingh, E.E., Savelkoul, P.h.m. & Wolffs, P.F.G. 2013. The human microbiome as a reservoir of antimicrobial resistance. *Front Microbiol.* 4(87).
- **PHE.** 2014. New Report Reveals Increase in Use of Antibiotics Linked to Rising Levels of Antibiotic Resistance. *News Release*. London.
- **Prescott, J.F.** 2008. Antimicrobial use in food and companion animals. *Anim Health Res Rev,* 9: 127-33.
- Quintana-Hayashi, M.P. & Thakur, S. 2012. Longitudinal Study of the Persistence of Antimicrobial-Resistant *Campylobacter* Strains in Distinct Swine Production Systems on Farms, at Slaughter, and in the Environment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78: 2698-2705.
- Raufu, I. A., Fashae, K., Ameh, J. A., Ambali, A., Ogunsola, F. T., Coker, A. O. & Hendriksen, R.
  S. 2014. Persistence of fluoroquinolone-resistant Salmonella enterica serovar Kentucky from poultry and poultry sources in Nigeria. J Infect Dev Ctries, 8: 384-8.
- Reboucas, R. H., De Sousa, O. V., Lima, A. S., Vasconcelos, F. R., De Carvalho, P. B. & Vieira, R.
  H. 2011. Antimicrobial resistance profile of Vibrio species isolated from marine shrimp farming environments (Litopenaeus vannamei) at Ceara, Brazil. *Environ Res*, 111: 21-4.
- Robinson, T. P., Bu, D. P., Carrique-Mas, J., Fèvre, E.
  M., Gilbert, M., Grace, D., Hay, S. I., Jiwakanon,
  G. J., Kakkar, M., Kariuki, S., Laxminarayan, R.,
  Lubroth, J., Magnusson, U., Thi Ngoc, P., Van
  Boeckel, T. P. & Woolhouse, M. E. J. 2016. Antibiotic resistance is the quintessential One Health
  issue. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 00: 1–4.
- Rodgers, C.J. & Furones, M.D. 2009. Antimicrobial agents in aquaculture: practice, needs and issues in Rogers C. (ed.), Basurco B. (ed.). *The use of veterinary drugs and vaccines in Mediterranean aquaculture Zaragoza*, pp. 41-59.

- Rodríguez-Beltrán, J., Rodríguez-Rojas, A., Yubero, E. & Blázquez, J. 2013. The Animal Food Supplement Sepiolite Promotes a Direct Horizontal Transfer of Antibiotic Resistance Plasmids between Bacterial Species. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 57: 2651-2653.
- Rosas, I., Amábile-Cuevas, C., Calva, E. & Osornio-Vargas, A. 2011. Animal and Human Waste as Components of Urban Dust Pollution: Health Implications. In: NRIAGU, J. (ed.) *Encyclopedia of Environmental Health*, pp.75-82. Burlington, MA, Elsevier.
- Rushton, J. 2010. Poultry sector development, highly pathogenic avian influenza and the smallholder production systems. *CAB Reviews: Perspectives in Agriculture, Veterinary Science, Nutrition and Natural Resources,* 5.
- Rushton, J., Stärk, K. & Pinto Ferreira, J. 2014. Antimicrobial resistance: the use of antimicrobials in the livestock sector. *OECD Food, Agriculture and Fisheries Papers*.
- Salyers, A.A. 2001. Agricultural Use of Antibiotics and Antibiotic Resistance in Human Pathogens: Is There A Link? *Reservoirs of Antibiotic Resistance Network*.
  Illinois: Alliance for the Prudent Use of Antibiotics (Tufts University).
- Salyers, A.A., Amábile-Cuevas, C. F., Salyers, A.A.
   & AmÁBile-Cuevas, C. F. 1997. Why are antibiotic resistance genes so resistant to elimination? *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 41: 2321.
- Scarano, C., Spanu, C., Ziino, G., Pedonese, F., Dalmasso, A., Spanu, V, Virdis, S. & De Santis, E.P.L.
  2014. Antibiotic resistance of Vibrio species isolated from Sparus aurata reared in Italian mariculture. *New Microbiologica*, 37: 329-337.
- **SCENIHR,** 2009. Assessment of the Antibiotic Resistance Effects of Biocides. *In:* CONSUMERS, D.-G. F. H. (ed.). Brussels. European Commission.
- Schmidt, J.W., Agga, G. E., Bosilevac, J. M., Brichta-Harhay, D. M., Shackelford, S.D., Wang, R., Wheeler, T.L. & Arthur, T.M. 2015. Occurrence of Antimicrobial-Resistant *Escherichia coli* and *Sal*-

monella enterica in the Beef Cattle Production and Processing Continuum. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology.* 81(2): 713-25.

- Schmieder, R. & Edwards, R. 2012. Insights into antibiotic resistance through metagenomic approaches. *Future Microbiology*. 7(1): 73-89.
- Schokker, D., Zhang, J., Zhang, L.-L., Vastenhouw, S.A., Heilig, H.G.H.J., Smidt, H., Rebel, J.M.J. & Smits, M.A. 2014. Early-Life Environmental Variation Affects Intestinal Microbiota and Immune Development in New-Born Piglets. *PLoS* ONE, 9, e100040.
- Shah, S.Q., Colquhoun, D.J., Nikuli, H.L. & Sorum,
  H. 2012. Prevalence of antibiotic resistance genes in the bacterial flora of integrated fish farming environments of Pakistan and Tanzania. *Environ Sci Technol*, 46: 8672-9.
- Sim, W.J., Lee, J.W., Lee, E.S., Shin, S.K., Hwang, S.R. & Oh, J.E. 2011. Occurrence and distribution of pharmaceuticals in wastewater from households, livestock farms, hospitals and pharmaceutical manufactures. *Chemosphere*, 82: 179-186.
- Singer, R. S., Finch, R., Wegener, H. C., Bywater, R., Walters, J. & Lipsitch, M. 2003. Antibiotic resistance – the interplay between antibiotic use in animals and human beings. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 3: 47-51.
- Skov, M. N., Andersen, J. S., Aabo, S., Ethelberg, S., Aarestrup, F. M., Sørensen, A. H., Sørensen, G., Pedersen, K., Nordentoft, S., Olsen, K. E. P., Gerner-Smidt, P. & Baggesen, D. L. 2007. Antimicrobial Drug Resistance of *Salmonella* Isolates from Meat and Humans, Denmark. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 13: 638-641.
- Skov, R.L. & Monnet, D.L. 2016. Plasmid-mediated colistin resistance (mcr-1 gene): three months later, the story unfolds. *Eurosurveillance*, 21(9).
- Smillie, C.S., Smith, M.B., Friedman, J., Cordero, O.X., David, L.A. & Alm, E.j. 2011. Ecology drives a global network of gene exchange connecting the human microbiome. *Nature*. 480(7376): 241-4.

Suriyasathaporn, W., Chupia, V., Sing-Lah, T.,

Wongsawan, K., Mektrirat, R. & Chaisri, W. 2012. Increases of Antibiotic Resistance in Excessive Use of Antibiotics in Smallholder Dairy Farms in Northern Thailand. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 25: 1322-1328.

- Suzuki, S. & Hoa, P.T.P. 2012. Distribution of Quinolones, Sulfonamides, Tetracyclines in Aquatic Environment and Antibiotic Resistance in Indochina. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 3: 67.
- Suzuki, S., Ogo, M., Miller, T. W., Shimizu, A., Takada, H. & Siringan, M. A. T. 2013. Who possesses drug resistance genes in the aquatic environment? Sulfamethoxazole (SMX) resistance genes among the bacterial community in water environment of Metro-Manila, Philippines. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 4: 102.
- Tang, X., Lou, C., Wang, S., Lu, Y., Liu, M., Hashmi, M. Z., Liang, X., Li, Z., Liao, Y., Qin, W., Fan, F., Xu, J. & Brookes, P.C. 2015. Effects of long-term manure applications on the occurrence of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) in paddy soils: Evidence from four field experiments in south of China. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 90: 179-187.
- Thai, T.H., Lan, N. T., Hirai, T. & Yamaguchi, R. 2012. Antimicrobial resistance in *Salmonella* serovars isolated from meat shops at the markets in North Vietnam. *Foodborne Pathog Dis*, 9: 986-91.
- Thanner, S., Drissner, D. & Walsh, F. 2016. Antimicrobial Resistance in Agriculture. *American Society for Microbiology*. 7(2).
- Tian, B., Fadhil, N.H., Powell, J.E., Kwong, W.K. & Moran, N.A. 2012. Long-Term Exposure to Antibiotics Has Caused Accumulation of Resistance Determinants in the Gut Microbiota of Honeybees. *mBio*, 3, e00377-12.
- **USDA.** 2014. Livestock and Poultry: World Markets and Trade. In: AGRICULTURE, U. D. O. (ed.) *Foreign Agricultural Service.*
- Usui, M., Uchida, I. & Tamura, Y. 2014. Selection of macrolide-resistant *Campylobacter* in pigs treated with macrolides. *Vet Rec*, 175, 430.

- Van Boeckel, T.P., Brower, C., Gilbert, M., Grenfell, B.T., Levin, S.A., Robinson, T. P., Teillant, A. & Laxminarayan, R. 2015. Global trends in antimicrobial use in food animals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(18): 5649–5654.
- Van Hoek, A. H. A. M., Mevius, D., Guerra, B., Mullany, P., Robert A.P. & Aarts, H.J.M. 2011. Acquired Antibiotic Resistance Genes: An Overview. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 2: 203
- Volkova, V.V., Lanzas, C., Lu, Z. & Grohn, Y. T. 2012. Mathematical model of plasmid-mediated resistance to ceftiofur in commensal enteric *Escherichia coli* of cattle. *PLoS One*, 7, e36738.
- Volkova, V.V., Lu, Z., Lanzas, C., Scott, H. M. & Grohn, Y.T. 2013. Modelling dynamics of plasmid-gene mediated antimicrobial resistance in enteric bacteria using stochastic differential equations. *Sci Rep*, 3: 2463.
- Wardyn, S.E., Forshey, B.M., Farina, S.A., Kates, A.
  E., Nair, R., Quick, M. K., Wu, J.Y., Hanson, B.
  M., O'Malley, S.M., Shows, H. W., Heywood, E.
  M., Beane Freeman, L.E., Lynch, C.F., Carrel M.
  & Smith, T.C. 2015. Swine Farming is a Risk Factor for Infection with and High Prevalence of Carriage of Multidrug-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Clin Infect Dis*, 61(1): 59-56.
- Warren, R. E., Ensor, V.M., O'Neill, P., Butler, V., Taylor, J., Nye, K., Harvey, M., Livermore, D.M., Woodford, N. & Hawkey, P. M. 2008. Imported chicken meat as a potential source of quinolone-resistant *Escherichia coli* producing extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in the UK. J Antimicrob Chemother, 61: 504-8.
- Webb, V. & Davies, J. 1993. Antibiotic preparations contain DNA: a source of drug resistance genes? *Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy*, 37: 2379.
- Webber, M.A. & Piddock, L.J.V. 2003. The importance of efflux pumps in bacterial antibiotic resistance. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy* 51: 9–11.
- Wegst-Uhrich, S.R., Navarro, D.A.G., Zimmerman, I. & Aga, D.S. 2014. Assessing antibiotic sorption

in soil: a literature review and new case studies on sulfonamides and macrolides. *Chem Cent J.* 8(5).

- Wellington, E. M. H., Boxall, A. B. A., Cross, P., Feil,
  E. J., Gaze, W. H., Hawkey, P. M., Johnson-Rollings, A. S., Jones, D. L., Lee, N. M., Otten, W.,
  Thomas, C. M. & Williams, A. P. 2013. The role of the natural environment in the emergence of antibiotic resistance in Gram-negative bacteria. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 13: 155-165.
- Werner, G., Coque, T. M., Franz, C. M., Grohmann, E., Hegstad, K., Jensen, L., Van Schaik W. & Weaver, K. 2013. Antibiotic resistant enterococci – tales of a drug resistance gene trafficker. *Int J Med Microbiol*, 303: 360-79.
- White, D.G., Zhao, S., Sudler, R., Ayers, S., Friedman, S., Chen, S., McDermott, P.F., McDermott, S., Wagner, D.D. & Meng, J. 2001. The Isolation of Antibiotic-Resistant Salmonella from Retail Ground Meats. The New England Journal of Medicine. 345(16): 1147-1154.
- **WHO.** 2008. Principles and methods for the risk assessment of chemicals in food. chapter 8: maximum residue limits for pesticides and veterinary drugs.
- **WHO.** 2012. *Critically Important Antimicrobials for Human Medicine*. Geneva. Switzerland.
- **WHO.** 2014a. *Antimicrobial Resistance Global Report On Surveillance*. Geneva. Switzerland.
- **WHO.** 2014b. Draft Global Action Plan on Antimicrobial Resistance. Geneva. Switzerland.
- Wielinga, P.R., Jensen, V. F., Aarestrup, F.M. & Schlundt, J. 2014. Evidence-based policy for controlling antimicrobial resistance in the food chain in Denmark. *Food Control*, 40: 185-192.
- Wilson, I. G. 2003. Antibiotic resistance of *Campylobacter* in raw retail chickens and imported chicken portions. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 131: 1181-1186.
- **Woolridge, M.** 2012. Evidence for the circulation of antimicrobial-resistant strains and genes in nature

and especially between humans and animals. *Rev.* sci. tech. Off. int. Epiz., 31: 231-247.

- Wright, G. 2010. Q&A: Antibiotic resistance: where does it come from and what can we do about it? *BMC Biology*, 8: 123.
- Yang, Y., Li, B., Zou, S.,Fang, H.H.P. & Zhang, T. 2014. Fate of antibiotic resistance genes in sewage treatment plant revealed by metagenomic approach. *Water Research.* 6: 97–106.
- Yim, G., Huimi Wang, H. & Davies FRS, J. 2007. Antibiotics as signalling molecules. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 362: 1195-1200.
- You, Y. & Silbergeld, E.K. 2014. Learning from agriculture: understanding low-dose antimicrobials as drivers of resistome expansion. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 5.
- Zhao, J., Chen, Z., Chen, S., Deng, Y., Liu, Y., Tian,
  W., Huang, X., Wu, C., Sun, Y., Sun Y., Zen Z.
  & Liu, J.H. 2010. Prevalence and dissemination of oqxAB in *Escherichia coli* isolates from animals, farmworkers, and the environment. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*, 54: 4219-24.
- Zhao, S., Datta, A.R., Ayers, S., Friedman, S., Walker, R.D. & White, D.G. 2003. Antimicrobial-resistant Salmonella serovars isolated from imported foods. Int J Food Microbiol, 84: 87-92.
- Zhu, Y.G., Johnson, T. A., Su, J.Q., Qiao, M., Guo, G.X., Stedtfeld, R. D., Hashsham S.A. & Tiedje, J. M. 2013. Diverse and abundant antibiotic resistance genes in Chinese swine farms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110: 3435-40.
- Zurfuh, K., Poirel, L., Nordmann, P.M., Hächler,
   H. & Stephan, R. 2016. Occurrence of the plasmid-borne mcr-1 colistin resistance gene in ES-BL-producing Enterobacteriacae in river water and imported vegetable samples in Switzerland. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 60 (7).

# **APPENDIX 1**

### **REVIEW PROTOCOL**

Study Question: Drivers, dynamics and epidemiology of antimicrobial resistance in animal production: a critical review of the relationship between antimicrobial use in animal production (including aquaculture) and AMR emergence and spread in animals and humans.

# Review of the scope and effect of the issue of AMR in agriculture (PIO):

- Population = humans, livestock and fish or other aquatic species connected to animal production and food distribution.
- Issue = relationship between animal production practices and AMR emergence and spread and vice versa.
- Outcome = qualitative and quantitative categorization of the role of animal production practices in AMR emergence and spread.

#### Search Strategy and Sources

As time and resources did not permit a systematic review of primary literature, the search strategy involved identifying relevant reviews, reports and secondary literature via recommendations from global experts in the field of AMR. The list of references in gathered articles then lead to identification of further sources in specific areas where there were gaps (following initial review). It was recognized as important to include as broad a range of literature as possible and experts from a wide variety of institutions and countries in order to minimize the risk of bias in the gathering of literature.

#### **Sources included:**

- review articles (secondary literature);
- government, NGO and Private Agency Reports;

- raw data;
- grey literature;
- expert opinion, see Potential Collaborators Identified, below.

#### **Experts were contacted from:**

- Australian National University, Australia;
- University of Guelph, Canada;
- European Medicines Agency, Belgium;
- Danish Institute for Food and Veterinary Research, Denmark;
- Technical University of Denmark, Denmark;
- University of Copenhagen, Denmark;
- Friedrich Loeffler Institute (FLI), Germany;
- Utrecht University, the Netherlands;
- Kenya Medical Research Institute (KEMRI), Kenya;
- Lusara Foundation, Mexico;
- Swedish National Veterinary Institute (SVA) Sweden;
- SAFOSO AG, Switzerland;
- Royal Veterinary College, UK;
- Animal and Plant Health Agency, UK;
- Veterinary Medicines Directorate, UK;
- U.S. Department of Agriculture, USA.

#### Management of Search Results

All gathered literature was stored in EndNote reference management software.

#### **Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria**

- Is the paper relevant to animal production (defined as the rearing of animals including aquatic species)?
- Does the paper relate to the study question?
- Is the article published or does it relate to work carried out within the last 15 years?
- Is the full text available for review?
- Is the paper available in English?

#### **Screening of Search Results**

Based on the inclusion/exclusion criteria, one reviewer reviewed the title and abstract (or equivalent) of each article.

#### **Data Extraction**

A data extraction form was drawn up using specific headings corresponding to the population, issue and outcome (PIO), based on the study question. This facilitates continuity and reliability of data extraction between researchers.

One reviewer extracted data from each article. Data were stored in a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet.

#### **Data Quality Assessment**

For each article the following was considered and documented:

**a)** Whether the study design or approach is appropriate to the research question, incorporating:

- whether the choice of outcome measure is valid and appropriate to the research question;
- whether there are any statistical issues in the analysis which may invalidate the study;
- whether the quality of reporting is adequate for incorporation within the technical paper;
- whether the study results are generalizable, within the remit of the technical paper.
- b) The risk of bias in the study design/results.

#### **Data Synthesis**

The findings of individual eligible and quality-assured studies were then collated, compared, contrasted, combined and summarized. These results, together with the associated interpretations and conclusions generated from narrative and quantitative synthesis, and in accordance with the remit for the review, formed the technical paper.

## **APPENDIX 2**

### MECHANISMS OF ANTIMICROBIAL RESISTANCE TO DIFFERENT ANTIMICROBIAL GROUPS

A very brief summary of resistance mechanisms is provided below (van Hoek *et al.*, 2011):

#### **The** β**-Lactams**

**Enzymatic inactivation:** there are around 1000 different  $\beta$ -lactamases known to date, some are only able to inactivate a few substances while others can also inactivate third-generation cephalosporins (extended-spectrum  $\beta$ -lactamases or ESBLs) and  $\beta$ -lactamase inhibitors (e.g. clavulanic acid). The  $\beta$ -lactamases are widely dispersed across bacterial groups, they can be chromosomal or plasmid-encoded.

Acquisition of alternative pathways: as  $\beta$ -lactams inhibit several enzymes responsible for the synthesis of bacterial cell walls (known as penicillin-binding proteins or PBPs), the acquisition of substitute enzymes can render a cell resistant to many, or all  $\beta$ -lactams. Altered PBPs are behind penicillin-resistance in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, acquired through transformation, either through accumulation of repeated point mutations but also through recombination between PBP genes from related streptococci species (Chambers, 1999).

#### Aminoglycosides

**Enzymatic inactivation:** approximately 100 acetyl-, phosphoryl-and nucleotidyl-transferases, which modify aminoglycoside molecules, rendering them inactive, have been reported. Most of these enzymes have a narrow spectrum (e.g. ANT(2")-I is only capable of inactivating gentamicin, tobramy-cin and kanamycin). Nevertheless, the bifunctional phosphoryl- and acetyl-transferase – found in

Gram-positive cocci – can inactivate most aminoglycosides. Genes for these enzymes often reside in plasmids and transposons, and can be mobilized as gene cassettes between integrons.

**Modification of target:** recently, 16S rRNA methylases that modify the ribosome hindering the binding of aminoglycosides, have been reported in enteric bacteria, *Pseudomonas* spp. and Gram-positive cocci. Also ribosomal mutations can render the ribosome insensitive to aminoglycosides.

#### **Tetracyclines**

**Active efflux:** around 30 tetracycline genes, e.g. *tet*(A, B, C, D, E, G, H, J, K), encode a tetracycline-specific efflux pump, they are found both in Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria and are commonly encoded in transposons and integrons.

**Protection of target:** approximately ten genes, e.g. *tet*(M, O, Q, S, T), encode ribosome protection proteins that bind the ribosome, preventing the binding of tetracycline. In addition to enteric bacteria, these *tet* genes – particularly *tet*(M) are commonly found along macrolide resistance genes (see below *'Macrolides'* section) within the same transposon in Gram-positive cocci, and they can also be found in anaerobes.

#### Macrolides

**Modification of target:** several *erm* genes encode a 23S rRNA methylase that modifies the ribosome, hindering the binding of macrolides. This modification protects the ribosome from other chemically unrelated antimicrobials, such as lincosamides and streptogramins, hence called MLS<sub>B</sub> phenotype, a clear example of cross-resistance. The *erm* genes are often found in mobile genetic elements, *erm*(B) and *tet*(M) are both within Tn1545, a conjugative transposon of streptococci. Active efflux: several *mef* genes encode a macrolide-specific pump that reduces intracellular concentration of macrolides. Unlike *erm* genes, *mef* genes can only protect against macrolides, rendering an M phenotype.

**Enzymatic inactivation:** *mph* genes mediate inactivation of macrolides, these genes are found mostly in Gram-negative bacteria, limiting their clinical relevance. However, vat genes that also code for inactivating enzymes, are found in *Enterococcus* spp. and *Staphylococcus* spp.

#### Quinolones

**Modification of target:** Mutations in *gyr* and/or *par* genes encoding gyrase and topoisomerase IV enzymes, respectively, allow for these enzymes to complete their three-step DNA supercoiling process, even in the presence of quinolones. A single mutation can render a bacterial cell resistant to nalidixic acid, but two or more mutations are necessary to achieve resistance to fluoroquinolones (e.g. ciprofloxacin, enrofloxacin). Although these mutations are recessive in nature, supposedly limiting their ability to be horizontally mobilized, transfer through transformation has been documented in streptococci, as the newly acquired gene substitutes the old, wild-type one via recombination.

Active efflux: although a 'reserpine-sensitive' efflux mechanism of quinolone resistance in pneumococci was reported, this phenotype is rather a multidrug resistance one, mediated by unspecific efflux (see below). Protection of target: a recently reported group of *qnr* genes encode a protein that protects topoisomerase enzymes from the action of quinolones. These genes, first reported as a unique plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance mechanism found in enteric bacteria, were then found in the chromosomes of many other organisms, along with related *mdp* genes of similar nature. These encode a low-level resistance to quinolones, often below the breakpoints for full resistance in the clinical setting.

**Enzymatic inactivation:** recently, a modified aminoglycoside-resistance enzyme, AAC(6')-lb-cr, has been found to be capable of inactivating ciprofloxacin. This enzyme is rather common in clinical isolates of enteric bacteria with reduced susceptibility to ciprofloxacin.

#### Sulphonamides, trimethoprim

Acquisition of alternative pathways: sulphonamides inhibit dehydropteroate synthetase (DHPS) enzymes, while trimethoprim inhibits dihydrofolate reductase (DHFR) enzymes. By horizontally acquiring the genes for DHPS and/or DHFR variant enzymes that are not inhibited by these drugs, bacteria become resistant. Of particular importance is gene *sul/*I, encoding one of such DHPS enzymes: this gene is part of the conserved region of class I integrons. Therefore, sulphonamides coselect for the entire genetic element, along with whatever other resistance genes have been integrated into the integron and viceversa.

**Overproduction of target enzymes:** mutants overexpressing DHPS and/or DHFR can overcome the inhibitory capacity of antifolate drugs at concentrations reached clinically, and become resistant.

#### Amphenicols

**Enzymatic inactivation:** chloramphenicol acetyltransferase enzymes, encoded by a variety of *cat* genes, inactivate chloramphenicol rendering the producing bacteria resistant to the drug. The *cat* genes have been found in Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria alike.

**Modification of target:** *cfr* genes encode for ribosomal methylase that modifies the ribosome so that florfenicol cannot bind, resulting in resistance. The clinical use of chloramphenicol is now very limited and florfenicol is now only used in veterinary settings. Nevertheless, *cfr* genes are relevant to public health as the methylase produced also protects the bacterial ribosomes from the action of linezolid, an oxazolidinone antimicrobial considered as a 'last resort' drug against MRSA and VRE infections in humans. The *cfr* genes have been observed in linezolid-resistant clinical isolates worldwide.

Active efflux: *cml* and *flo* genes encode for specific efflux pumps, found mostly in Gram-negative bacteria.

### Glycopeptides

**Modification of target:** glycopeptides bind to terminal D-alanyl-D-alanine residues of cell wall pentapeptide precursors, blocking the following

steps of cell wall synthesis (transglycosylation and transpeptidation). The *van* genes alter the peptidoglycan synthesis pathways so that, instead of Dala-D-ala, there is D-alanyl-D-lactate or D-alanyl-D-serine. Clusters of *van* gene (five or more genes) are necessary to achieve glycopeptide resistance, hence the whole cluster must be horizontally transferred, likely through conjugation. Some *van* genes, probably originating from vancomycin-producing organisms, were transferred to *Streptomyces* species and then into Gram-positive cocci.

